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The district of Kesab, which occupies an area
of about 90 sq. km within Latakia Province, is sit-
uated at the north-western extremity of the Syrian
Arab Republic.! It borders on the Turkish village
of Muselek to the north-west; the Mediterranean
Sea to the north-west and west; Mounts Cassius
(Jebel-Agra) and Barlaam (Parlum) to the north;
the Turkish village of Bezeku to the north-east; the
Turkish-inhabited district centre of Ortu to the
east; the valley of the Leghejyor to the south (the
borderline runs along a gorge extending to Faga-
Hasan), and the Turkoman villages of Faga-
Hasan, Hyurmetli and Petrusie to the south-west.

1 Qnuuptwb 3., Ltuwy [H. Cholakian, Kesab], vol. 3
(Aleppo, 2004), 61.
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The southern, south-western and south-eastern
parts of Kesab are mostly covered with fir woods,
while in the north, north-west and north-east of the
district, mainly oak and laurel trees grow.

The highest peak in Kesab is Mount Cassius
(1,750 metres). Other mountains include Barlaam
(1,250 metres),” Seltran (1,129 metres)® and
Tunak (838 metres). The district does not have
perennial rivers or streams (among tributaries, the
Meghradzor and Tyuzaghaj can be mentioned),
but all its villages have fountains flowing contin-
uously throughout the year, that of Chinar being
the most abundant of all.

2 Ibid., vol. 1 (Aleppo, 1995), 45.
3 Ibid., vol. 3, 68.



Mount Cassius from the south; Mount Tunak from the north-east; Mounts Tunak and Seltran from the south-west

The district, the capital of which is the town-
ship of the same name, consists of 11 Armenian-
inhabited villages: Garaturan, Garatash, Sev
Aghbyur, Nerkin Gyugh, Chinar, Chakaljek,
Korkyune, Ekizoluk, Tyuzaghaj, Veri (Upper)
Paghjaghaz and Vari (Lower) Paghjaghaz.

Apart from Apostolics, the local Armenians
also comprise followers of the Evangelical,
Catholic and Latin* Churches (officially recog-
nised in 1853, 1857 and 1890 respectively).’

4 In 1946 the adherents of the Latin Church merged into the
Catholic community (Cholakian, 1995, 389).
5 Ibid., 51.

Kesab remained purely Armenian-inhabited
until the mid-19th century.® The Armenian popula-
tion of the district considerably diminished after
the Adana massacres of 1909, the Genocide of
1915 and the repatriation of 1947. In the 1960s,
taking advantage of the state legislation of Syria,
some Arab Alawites who had been working for the
influential Armenians of Kesab for almost a cen-
tury assumed possession of their estates and took
up residence there.

The available statistical records regarding the
permanent population of the district represent the
following picture according to house numbers:

6 G. Wood, “Kessab - The Church on the Mountain,” The
Missionary Herald, vol. LXIV (August 1868), 241.

Year Armenians Alawites Kurds
19067 1318

19118 1182

1920° 625

195510 275

2006 328 89 2
2011 almost repeating the data for 2006

7 «UptibjtwG dwinyy [Arevelian Mamul], no. 50 (1906),

1228-1231.

8 R. Kortoshian, “The Population of Kesab between 1906
and 2006,” Vardzk, no. 4 (2014), 59. Retrieved from:
http://www.raa-am.com/vardsk-4/Vardzk-4E.pdf

9 Ibid., 62.

10 Ibid., 62-63.

11 Ibid., 63.
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The earliest monuments of the district, which
trace back to the Roman Era, are preserved in
Korkyune and Nerkin Gyugh Villages, in the
coastal quarter of Garaturan, as well as in the
neighbourhood of Kesab Township and Tyuzaghaj
Village. These places also retain monuments of
the Byzantine Period.

Most presumably, the first Armenians arrived in
Kesab between the 14th and 15th centuries: Nerkin

Gyugh Village, which preserves a cross-stone of the
15th to 16th centuries, is traditionally considered as
their first place of living in the district.

The Armenian heritage of Kesab also includes
the chapel of St. Maruke (16th to 18th centuries)
at the south-eastern extremity of Kesab Township;
Sourb Astvatzatzin (Holy Virgin) Church in its
central quarter and St. Gevorg Church (18th cen-
tury) in the coastal quarter of Garaturan.

Most of the preserved lapidary inscriptions of
Kesab District date from the period between the
19th and 20th centuries. St. Gevorg Church of the
coastal quarter of Garaturan and Sourb
Astvatzatzin Church of the central quarter of
Kesab Township retain the oldest Armenian
inscriptions in the district tracing back to 1770 and
1809 respectively.



KESAB TOWNSHIP

The township of Kesab is identified with the
historical city of Kazampel (Kasapella), which is
mentioned as part of the Dukedom of Antioch dur-
ing the Crusader period.'”> It should be noted,
however, that its neighbourhood retains monu-
ments of much earlier times: special mention
should be made of a capital kept in the yard of
Sourb Astvatzatzin (Holy Virgin) Church. Also
noteworthy is a rock-cut recess—probably used
for funerary purposes—Ilocated on the right side of
aroad leading to the quarter of Kala, at the south-
western extremity of the township. Besides, a
spate of architectural fragments and archaeologi-
cal finds are preserved in St. Michael Church.

Until the mid-20th century, Kesab had 3 main
quarters (central, western and eastern) which
extended southward in the course of time. Later
another quarter, Kala, was established in the
south-west of the township.

e M .

The township from the south in 1860 (photo by the Rev. G. W.
Wood) and from the north-west in 2006; a rock-cut recess dat-
ing from the Roman Era; a cupboard containing architectural
fragments and a funerary memorial of the Roman Era, both in
St. Michael Church; a capital of the 2nd to 4th centuries in the
yard of Sourb Astvatzatzin (Holy Virgin) Church

12 Cholakian, 1995, 225-226.




The central quarter of Kesab mostly preserves
old houses dating from the late 19th and early 20th
centuries (in 1987, 1992 and 2002, Land and
Culture Organisation carried out renovation in
some of them).

The only bridge (early 20th century) of the
township, which is a single-span structure, is situ-
ated in the street of the old market. Its arch and
railings are finely-dressed, while the other sec-
tions are built of roughly-hewn stone.

An arched fountain (now dried up) is pre-
served in the vicinity of St. Michael Church.

Two of the renovated houses of the central quarter of the township; a fountain in the vicinity of St. Michael Church with its meas-
urement; the measurement of a bridge located in the market street

5



St. Baragham (Barlaam) Monastery

The monastery (early 6th century) which is
named after Baragham the Hermit (local
Armenians call it Barlum or Parlum)'? stands at
the top of Mount Barlaam, 2.3 km north-east of
Kesab (N 35° 56' 52.45", E 35° 59" 35.49").

In the 10th century, it underwent reconstruc-
tion (it had been destroyed by an earthquake) and
functioned until the 13th century.'*

At present only the walls of the main church of
the monastery are preserved to a height of 2
metres in the sanctuary section and 1.5 metres in
the other parts.

The monastic church represents a tri-nave
basilica with two western pilasters and two
entrances opening from the south and west. Three
pairs of pillars divide the prayer hall into 12 sec-
tions. There is an open sacristy on either side of
the sanctuary, the eastern wall of which has a win-
dow. Each of the vestries has a recess in its east-
ern wall. The church was originally built of the
local finely-dressed stones of average dimensions
(probably, small undressed stones were used dur-
ing subsequent acts of renovation).

The annexes of the monastery are in a ruined
state.

Prior to the establishment of a new borderline
between Syria and Turkey in 1939, the local
Armenians celebrated Vardavar (an ancient pagan
festival which changed into the feast of the
Transfiguration of Jesus Christ after the adoption
of Christianity in Armenia in 301) in the
monastery of St. Baragham.'>

There is an arched, entirely finely-dressed
fountain named Teknejok on the road leading
from Kesab to St. Baragham Monastery (at pres-
ent it is on the borderline between Turkey and
Syria). As of the mid-20th century, it was in an
emergency condition.

Castle
Kala Quarter of Kesab retains a castle (N 35°
55'21.53", E 35° 58' 54.24") the ramparts of which
were built of the local undressed stone and mortar,
judging from their remnants.

13 «Uhol» [Sion], no. 10 (1866), 151.

14 Colum Hourihane (ed.-in-chief), The Grove Encyclope-
dia of Medieval Art and Architecture, vol. 1 (New York,
2012), 113.

15 In 1939 the sanjak of Alexandretta became part of Turkey
and a new borderline was established between this country
and Syria. As a result of this, the monastery appeared in the
territory of Turkey and ceased serving as a pilgrimage site
(Cholakian, 1995, 233).

The monastic church from the south; its eastern and western sections; the plan of the monastery worked out by Ashot Hakobian on
the basis of a satellite photo from Google Earth 2012; a measurement of Teknejok Fountain



According to a visitor, as of 1866, the village
of Beit-Hambush, located 30 km south-east of
Kesab in a straight line, had a similar fortress with
an Armenian construction inscription of 1348.6
This gives us grounds to trace the castle in Kala
back to the 14th century.

St. Maruke Chapel

The semi-ruined chapel of St. Maruke (N 35°
55' 31.55", E 35° 59' 37.43") is situated in a site
called Samas, 800 metres south-east of the central
quarter of Kesab.

A uni-nave structure with an entrance in the
east, it presumably dates from the period between
the 16th and 18th centuries.

The present-day remnants of the chapel com-
prise its western wall as well as the western angu-
lar sections of its northern and southern walls,
which are half covered with earth. It probably had
a gable roof and a semi-cylindrical vault consoli-
dated by an arch resting on the central pilasters of
the monument. The chapel is built of the local
undressed stone and mortar. Its western wall
inwardly retains some traces of plaster. Recently a
low wall has been added to the eastern part of the
surviving section of the chapel.

16 «Uhol» [Sion], no. 5 (1866), 99-100.

1 | I L e ¥ 4 | The castle remnants inwardly and outwardly; St. Maruke Chapel from the south-east and its western surviving part




Sourb Astvatzatzin (Holy Virgin) Church

This church (N 35°55'44.47", E 35°59' 08.61"),
which stands in the central quarter of Kesab, prob-
ably dates back to the 18th century. It represents a
rectangular building of three apses and two
entrances opening from the south and west. The
prayer hall of the church is illuminated by 7 win-
dows, 3 of which open from the western facade
and 4 from the southern one. Originally, it had a
level roof of earth.

In 1809 and 1880, Sourb Astvatzatzin Church
underwent renovation. Its western and eastern bel-
fries were added in 1903 and in the 1970s respec-
tively. In the 1950s the church was surmounted by
a dome, and in the 1970s, its roof of reinforced
concrete was built.!’

In the late 20th century, Sourb Astvatzatzin
Church underwent thorough overhaul, during
which its outer facades were revetted.

The church walls and its yard abound in
inscriptions most of which commemorate con-
struction activities.

1. A single line in Arabic and six in embossed Armenian
letters engraved on a stone slab set above the church font:

Irre

Guidop L npnpimip(bwd)p w(uwmnt)ony Gn-
pingligun dudu dky(") u(mp)p jayb(nk)ghu
U(mip)p [ jU(unnuu)owohG h pwlpuGhu hwjng
h | QU2 (1809)-ht h hwjpunybnn()pl(w)i
wn((bwn)i | Ghpwinu Jupnnhinupl L wnwg-
lG(npy)n()pli(w)a | Uppw()ly Juw(p)n(w)ujb-
whl, np uwndwn bn(w)r:

1224 (1809). By the will and grace of God, this
holy church of Sourb Astvatzatzin was renovated
in the year 1258 (1809) of the Armenian calendar,
in the days of Catholicos Kirakos and Archiman-
drite Michael, the spiritual leader who initiated it.

Published in: Gupuuptnd U., Ghiptip Uniphny hwy qui-
nniphl wuundniptinG hwdwn [A. Gartashian, “Materials for
the History of the Armenian Settlement of Syria”], «Q-tiqupmp»
uniphwhw) wwptghpp [Geghard Yearbook of Syrian
Armenians], book 3 (Aleppo, 1985), 280; Qnuuptmi 3., Lt-
uwuh ppowl [H. Cholakian, “Kesab District”], «<wulp
wwptighpp [Hask Yearbook], no. 6 (Lebanon, 1995), 319.

Note: The Arabic inscription and the first four lines of the
Armenian one are published for the first time.

Gartashian’s and Cholakian’s publications of the inscrip-
tion are incomplete and contain errors.

2. Five lines carved on a marble slab inwardly set above the
principal door of the church:

Uyu b muwnnpswfipul ninnuithwn hw|ing
U(mip)p Lybnbgh, Gnpngbguwn judh wm(bw)nd |
1880 h Ltuwy:

17 Cholakian, 1995, 262.

Sourb Astvatzatzin (Holy Virgin) Church from the south-east and its plan

This holy Armenian Orthodox Gregorian church

of Kesab was renovated in the year 1880 A.D.
Published in: Gartashian, 280; Cholakian, “Kesab
District,” 319; ibid., Kesab, vol. 1, 259.

3. Engraved on one of the walls of the western belfry of the
church:

Chltigun wju qubquluunmbu pihlG Lphu-
wmnuh 1903, hnlju. 20:

This bell tower was built on 20 October 1903 A.D.

Published in: Gartashian, 280; Cholakian, 1995, 259.
Note: We have not seen this inscription.

4. Seven lines in Armenian and two in English engraved
on a marble slab set on the southern facade of the church, west
of its main door:

U I wmwwywl ownwjhlG 3(h)u(niu)h
Lppu(umnu)h | wnkp UnbithwGhl [Qwujw-
qJbwd, | oG(twy) 1825 | b1 dnGwnpbuwy [p](w)-
h(w)G(uy) ..mqu | 1866 ... | ti thnfubgur p
Lphunnu [ 1905, thwn(pnuwp) 20: | Rev(erend)
Stepan | die in Feb(ruary) 20, 1905.

In this grave reposes Jesus Christ’s servant,
Father Stepan Gapagian, born in 1825 and ordai-
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An inner view of the eastern section of the church; a tracing of inscription 1; inscriptions 2, 4 and 5

ned priest ...1866 ...departed this life on 20 Febru-

ary 1905.
Published in: Gartashian, 280; Cholakian, 1995, 259.
Note: The English inscription as well as the fourth and
fifth lines of the Armenian one are published for the first time.

5. Four lines carved on a cross kept in the church:

1933 | hnjhu | 23: | {ppwuwly PultGukpni-
GupGuwl ptuwwygh wplilGwlg dhni(p)b(w)i h
Umipp) U(unnuu)o(w)ol(w); bLhbnlginju
h(w)j(n)g Ltuwwni:

23 July 1933. To Kesab’s Armenian church of
Sourb Astvatzatzin from the Union of Women from

Kesab living in Iskenterun.
Published for the first time.




6. Eight lines engraved on a marble slab set close to the
newly-built font of the church, on its northern wall:

Guinmgun dypunwpuwiu | wpnbwdp [ nkp b
whly(ht) | Uwlwul NMuuybwGh' | b jhpwmul
olnnug hipng' | Uwpghuh b1 Gupbph, | 1991: |
AQupun(wpunylin) 9-knpg GpudbwG:

This baptistery was constructed with the
means of Mr. and Mrs. Manase Papian in memo-
ry of their parents Sargis and Yester. 1991. Archi-

tect: Gevorg Yeramian.
Published for the first time.

7. Five lines incised on a marble slab set above the
entrance of a hall adjoining the church:

Lwmuwunnbgun quihihdu wpnbwdp | Upw-
whlwl tnpupg | h jhpwuwly dop fipbwlg’ | (nqu
Loppunubiul Upwwbwh, | judh mbwnl 1992:

This hall was revetted in 1992 A.D. with the
means of the brothers Arapian in memory of their

mother Roza Kortmossian Arapian.
Published for the first time.

8. Thirteen lines engraved on a marble slab fixed in the
church yard:

‘Unpnqbgun b pwpuyunnbgun Libnbghu | b
onswnulju wpnbwdp hwy dnnmypnbw | G wqGht
pwpbpumug judh mbwnd 1996: | Shwp Muwpgbt
Nhuyhybwd’ | pupbmuop qulquiljuumud, [ mhwp
Epowlhly Gupuynpbwl | pupbpup bybnbgmju
hwpuwnughl dwhunnh, [ nhwp Umod QuphplwG
| pupbmup Gybnbgimyu wpbiimbw G Gwlunnh, |
mbwpp Umhhwnp i Gupyhu Bppelwl’ | puipb-
pupp wpbibywG qupkph, [ npwp Uliuynth Gugni-
whwl' | pupbpup ppownulh vwpuyuwumauynidh:

This church and its yard were repaired and
revetted in 1996 A.D. with donations made by the
Armenian people and [the following] noble bene-
factors: Mr. Pargev Pyulpyulian, patron of the
belfry; Mr. Yerjanik Karpushian, patron of the
southern facade of the church; Mr. Aram Chyuri-
kian, patron of the western facade of the church;
Misters Arpiar and Karpis Terterian, patrons of
the eastern dome; Mr. Sepuh Yagupian, patron of
the yard flagging.

Published for the first time.

9. Five lines carved on a marble slab set inside the church:

Vunmwpwllbpp qbnbnnibgulG | Swlnp
Quiquqbwbh | jhpwmwihG | quuullbpniG
Unnuk, | 2006:

The pews were placed in memory of Hakob
Gazazian by his children. 2006.

Published for the first time.

10. A single line in Arabic and six in Armenian carved on
the pedestal of a cross-stone standing in the church yard:

ooV g o Sl gl coms

Jhwpupul huwyjulpuld gbmuugulmpbwd: |
Shywnwly wpnupng ophGmpbwdp bnhgh: | Guw-
nmigun fuwspwipu wpnbiwdp | Fughnuplwl qbp-
nuumwGh | b jhpwemuly GGobgling iipbwlg, | 2009:
A memorial of the Genocide of Armenians. May
the memory of the just be blessed. This khachkar
was created with the Eplighatians’ means in me-

mory of the dead members of their family. 2009.
Published for the first time.
Note: The Arabic inscription and the first sentence of the
Armenian one have the same contents.

A cross-stone standing in the yard of Sourb Astvatzatzin (Holy Virgin) Church; the bust of Catholicos of All Armenians Garegin I of Kesab; the newly-constructed font of the church; inscriptions 6,
7,8and 9
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Sourb Yerrordutiun (Holy Trinity) Church

The Armenian Evangelical church of Sourb
Yerrordutiun (N 35° 55' 36.96", E 35° 59' 07.91")
is situated in the western quarter of Kesab.

Originally, the township had an Armenian
Evangelical church of 1860'® which was burnt
away in 1909. In the same year, the local stone
dressers and masons began the construction of a
new church!® under the supervision of master Jerji
from Urfa. Its walls were laid with white marble
extracted from the quarry?® of Pashort Village, but
its pillars and roofing remained unfinished due to
the deportation of 1914.

The church was completed only between 1968
and 1970, its columns and roof being built of rein-
forced concrete instead of stone.?!

Sourb Yerrordutiun Church represents a tri-
nave structure with an outwardly accentuated apse
in the west. Its sanctuary has two western win-
dows and a northern door opening outward. It is
partitioned from the prayer hall through a wall (in
the course of time, a new bema was constructed in
front of it). Five pairs of pillars divide the hall into
18 sections. Light is let in through both windows
of the eastern facade and 7 others opening from
each of the northern and southern ones. The
church has two entrances in the east. A number of
newly-built partitions divide the eastern section of
the hall into several rooms.

The church walls and its yard retain a number
of inscriptions.

1. Three lines in Armenian and two in English carved in
painted characters on a marble slab set on the southern gate of
the church yard:

<wy wnbnmwpuwlwliub | Umpp Gppnpnni-
phil | Ghbnkgh:
Armenian Evangelical | Holy Trinity Church.

Published for the first time.
Note: Both inscriptions have the same contents.

2. Two lines engraved on the western facade of the church:

U(mipp) Gppnpnnipu G, | 1909:
Holy Trinity, 1909.

Published for the first time.

18 The construction of the church lasted from 1859 until the
spring of 1860. Its walls were laid with the local stones and
covered with plaster (Wood, 243-244).

19 Before the completion of the new church, a male school
located in the vicinity of the older one served for the con-
duct of public worship (Cholakian, 1995, 478).

20 Ibid., 234.

21 Ibid., 263-264.

—

The church from the east; a westward view of its interior; inscriptions 1 and 4

1

1



12

Sourb Yerrordutiun (Holy Trinity) Church from the south-west and its plan

3. Four lines engraved in embossed characters above both
doors of the church:

Gu b | dwdpwlG m SydwpmmmpnGp n GwGpp,
[ wdl np | hGoh Yniquuy, Gppkp nnipu ughuh shwGby:
1 am the way, and the truth, and the life; no one

comes to the Father but through Me (John 14:6).
Published for the first time.

4. Seven lines carved on a metal slab set inside the church:
<wy wnbnwpuwGwlpn G Umpp Gppnpnniphi G
Lybnbgh: | ChGmphilp ujunuuo 1909-1914, |
Ybp(wwwuybih) ShopulG  Qnilnmwqdbwih
hmjmwiwl ppowGhG: Udpnnougnuuo 1968-
1970, | hwiwjG ptuwnyghGbpn b pupblpodGh-

pnt Gmppunmmpbwdp, [ nkpng thwnphl b w-
thnwpuGh pupngmipbwl hwdwp: | 1 jnighu,
1970, LRtuuny:

Armenian Evangelical Sourb Yerrordutiun
(Holy Trinity) Church. Its construction was initiat-
ed [and carried on] in the days of the Reverend
Tigran Guntagjian, from 1909 until 1914. It was
accomplished between 1968 and 1970 through
donations made by all the inhabitants of Kesab
and their friends for the glory of the Lord and

preaching of the Gospel. Kesab, 1 July 1970.
Published for the first time.

5. Six lines engraved on a marble slab set south of the
church bema:

Uuwnniony thwnphl hwidwp | bitnbghhu pb-
up Ybpuwlupmgmbgun | Uypnpsbw G pGuwGh-
phG Ynnit | Junwdbn doqkd Ginpd | Uhpup-
stwlh jhywmulhd, | ognuinnu 25, 1991:

For God’s glory, the bema of this church was
reconstructed by the Mkrtichians’ family in mem-
ory of Joseph George Mkrtichian, who died an
untimely death. 25 August 1991.

Published for the first time.



e

Both entrances of Sourb Yerrordutiun (Holy Trinity) Church with the inscriptions set above them,; its newly-built bema with its construction inscription; some remnants of the older church
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St. Michael Church

St. Michael Church (N 35° 55'49.75", E 35° 59'
12.82") is situated in the eastern quarter of Kesab.

It was built in 1925 with stones brought from the
quarry of Pashort Village (the chief mason was mas-
ter Nazar Ustagarian). The construction expenses
were covered by the Custody of the Holy Land.?

In 1946, together with the other glebes and
property belonging to the Latin Church, St.
Michael shifted into the possession of the Ar-
menian Catholic Patriarchate, and the Catholics®
started holding religious service there.?*

St. Michael Church represents a uni-nave
vaulted basilica of a gable roof. In the north, it has
a pentahedral apse accentuated outwardly. An
entrance opening from the eastern facet of the apse
leads to the only, eastern, vestry (rectangular in
plan) of the church via its belfry. The hall is illumi-
nated through two windows opening from each of
the eastern and western facades of the church.
Each of the north-eastern and north-western facets
of the apse has an additional window.

The only entrance to the church opens from its
southern facade, which is finely-dressed in con-
trast to the others which are built of roughly-hewn
stones.

St. Michael Church and its yard preserve sev-
eral inscriptions.

1. Two lines in Armenian and one in Arabic carved on a
marble slab set above the southern door of the church:

U(mpp) Uhpwyt; Ghbknbgh' | Gqunnignuud
1925: | .14r0 ple cad Lo ol LiS

St. Michael Church built in 1925.

Published for the first time.

Note: The Arabic inscription has the same contents.

2. A single line in Latin engraved on a marble slab placed
on the western part of the southern facade of the church:

A. D. MCMXXV.
1925 A.D.

Published for the first time.

3. Eight lines in Italian carved on a rock west of the church
yard:

Il Cassio | il Getsemani ed il Tabor | incidono
| nelle loro sacre roccie | il nome | di P. Ferdinan-
do Diotallevi | Custode di Terra Santa | MCMXXV.

22 According to the former sexton of the church, 82-year-old
Avetis Babujian, whom we met in 2010.

23 The old Catholic church of Kesab was built between 1860
and 1861 in the centre of the eastern quarter of the town-
ship. After having suffered fire and destruction in 1909, it
was renovated in 1910 (Cholakian, 1995, 233, 265). At
present it serves as a hall (information retrieved from:
www.armeniancatholic.org).

24 Cholakian, 1995, 322.
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St. Michael Church from the south-east and north, together with the adjacent buildings

Father Ferdinando Diotallevi, the leader of
the Custody of the Holy Land, has engraved his
name on the sacred rocks of Mounts Cassius,

Gethseman and Tabor. 1925.
Published in: Cholakian, 1995, 479.

4. Five lines in Latin engraved on a rock west of the
church yard:

Novam ecclesiam | sumptibus Custodiae T(erra)
S(anta) aedificatam | revmus P. Aurelius Marotta Cus-
1os, | solemni est auspicatus pitu | die 20 Maii 1926.




The new church was constructed with the
means of the Custody of the Holy Land. Its leader
Aurelius Marotta’s solemn journey to the Orient
began on 20 May 1926. T

Published in:. Cholakian, 1995, 479.
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5. Nine lines in Armenian and four in Arabic engraved on
arock west of the church yard:

Qphgnp Mbnpnu 76 Unudwlhwd, | Jbo
huypuybinhG oGGntwG 100 wibwyha: | Unjw-
1k dbip bpufumwghnmphi GG uhpuGnikp [ hug-
puwlbinhl, npniG vhowdnmpbwdp Leuwyy | hp
onowlpupm] 1939-h6G vGwg vwu hjuppGhuy |
Unmiphny, ti ppowGhG hwy dnnnymipnp | thplynib-
gt wnbnwpbp mbnuhwGmpbGEG: | Bhpwuuly
(inpw ophGmphwdp tnhgh: 6-8-1995: = -

[ oo sl o3 e Biila (oill Jeandly Gl se s laclas .

s S B5US [ ca Lo V4P e Lol oS -
990-1A90 | Llala o) s ie Guolall Gug,un 550 ,S ——

In commemoration of the 100th birth anniver- Y
sary of the Great Patriarch, Grigor Petros ‘3‘: A6 n xkx R
Aghajanian XV. We are ever grateful to the devot- r}( ! ,‘h-"jf =
ed Patriarch, thanks to whose intercession, Kesab g
and its vicinity remained as part of hospitable AR T LN
Syria in 1939 and the Armenians of the district g 1 2 3 4 & i0m =
were saved from a disastrous deportation. May his i il i
memory be blessed. 6.8.1995.

Published for the first time.
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Note: The Arabic inscription has almost the same contents.
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The church plan; a northward view of its interior and its inscriptions
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Cemetery

Formerly, the graveyard of Kesab extended
around Sourb Astvatzatzin Church.? In the mid-19th
century, when Catholic and Evangelical communi-
ties were established in the township, it became an
apple of discord among the three local cong-
regations. The issue was finally settled only when a
hill rising in the south of Khod, 50 metres south of
the Evangelical church of the township, was allocat-
ed to them for a public cemetery (N 35°55'33.46", E
35° 59' 07.86").2° The oldest of its gravestones per-
petuates the memory of P. Powers, a missionary of
the Evangelical Church who died in 1872.

Below follow several epitaphs from the ceme-
tery:

1. Six lines in Turkish in the Armenian script engraved on
the face of a rectangular tombstone:

Uonotvolitwl | Uhlwup( ... | nmd...qhuw...: |
[Snn(m)[d] 1886, | YEdwpp 1889, | [ognu(nnu) 28:

Soghomonian Minas... Born in 1886, dead
since 28 August 1889.

Published for the first time.

2. Twelve lines in Turkish in the Armenian script engraved
on the face of a memorial slab:

Uninupuhlbwl | Monoupl onnt | “Lwqu-
phnu, 1858, | dwmn 20-nk wmonunj: | Guujpp
ununpluuw, | quphG wippGuw, | 1893, niGyjwnp
I-(k), | Swup dwnupw/fmw Yykpwp Eplump: 80

piGunkG | voypw wnypGinni] | ...hG oymiG:

25 In 1880, when the church was being expanded, the remains
reposing in the cemetery were collected together and
interred in front of its western door (Cholakian, 1995,
266).

26 Ibid.

27 Gartashian, 284.
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Mughtesikian Poghos’ son Ghazarios, born on
20 March 1858. He was buried alive under snow
in the cave of Tamle on Mount Gaver on 1 January
1893, his body being found [only] 80 days later.

Published for the first time.

Note: Mount Gaver (Gavr), which has been renamed Nur,
rises north of Kesab District, in present-day Osmaniye District
of Adana Province, Turkey.

3. Four lines in Turkish in the Armenian script carved on
the face of a burial slab:

LhpwwyhbiwlG Qknpgpl(°) | omm Mbunpnu
1846 pwphfuplnt wmomnm, 1895, | hnl(mbu-
pbp) 8 JLpwp Lpuwh:

Gevorg (?) Kitapian’s son Petros, born in

1846, dead since 8 October 1895.
Published in: Gartashian, 285; Cholakian, 1995, 267.



4. Four lines in Turkish in the Armenian script incised on
a slab set on what represents finely-dressed stones arranged in
the form of a tombstone:

UphibwlG pUmbihwGnpG [onfi[nt] Uw...: |
1867, thbmp(muwp) 21 | wmnndnipumpp, 1897,
dwp(wn) 21 | JEkpwp [puppupp:

Stepan Abelian’s son Ma... Born on 21
February 1867, dead since 21 March 1897.

Published for the first time.

5. Four lines engraved on the face of a rectangular grave-
stone standing on a single-step pedestal:

Uuwm hwlqsh | -tnpg Upkjtwd, | oGun 1896,
Jmo)Gh)u 15, | hwlqbwr 1898, oq(nuwmnu) 10:
In this grave reposes Gevorg Abelian, born on

15 June 1896, dead since 10 August 1898. 6. Six lines engraved on the face of a rectangular tomb- 7. Four lines engraved on a rectangular gravestone:
Published in: Gartashian, 285. stone standing on a three-stepped pedestal: Noqlkd Upqupbwd, | oGun 1900, og(n)u(nnu)
' <wligsh wun [ woq(nnp) dnpg Qpphi- 15 hwGglw: h wkp | 1909, j(m)G(h)u 20:
Ybwd, | oGbwy | 1840-pG h Liuwyy, [ hwlqbuwy | Joseph Ashgarian, born on 15 August 1900,

1906, wuppy 13: dead since 20 June 1909.

In this grave reposes Doctor Gevorg Chyur- Published in: Gartashian, 286; Cholakian, 1995, 268.
yukian, born in Kesab in 1840, dead since 13 April
1906.
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8. Seven lines carved on the face of a rectangular tomb-
stone standing on a single-step pedestal:

Uuwn hwligsh | Gupbp S. | Gninwqdbwd, |
olun 1880-hG | h Uwpuwy, | hwiqbwt h wkp |
1913-pG h LEuwny:

In this grave reposes Yester T. Guntagjian,
who was born in Marash in 1880 and died in

Kesab in 1913.
Published in: Gartashian, 286; Cholakian, 1995, 268.
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9. Eight lines carved on a rectangular tombstone:

Uun hwlqsh | apbljuw U. Q.. <Ephdtwd,
olituf) 1886-h h ULytptly tr hwlqbw | 1913
thip(nuwp) 1-pG h Lhuwy: | Uppnil Lhgtp,
qh stp gnbp, pk npph dwpnng np dwdnil wh-
mh quiyj:

In this grave reposes Rebecca S. G. Hekimian,
who was born in Severek in 1886 and died in Ke-
sab on 1 February 1913. “Therefore keep watch,
because you do not know on what day your Lord

will come [Matthew 24:42].”
Published in: Gartashian, 286; Cholakian, 1995, 268.

10. Five lines engraved on a slab set on what represents
undressed stones arranged in the form of a tombstone:

Uuwn hwl(qQ)sh | Lpwl Cltlunijbwd, | oG
1893, | hwliqbwt [ 1923, d(w)j(h)u 15:
In this grave reposes Nshan Shekhukian, born

in 1893, dead since 15 May 1923.
Published in: Gartashian, 286; Cholakian, 1995, 269.

11. Three lines carved on the face of a burial slab:

Uuwn hwlgsh | Monnu Gupwwbwl, | oGuwt
1862, hwliqtiun 1923:

In this grave reposes Poghos Gatapian, born
in 1862, dead since 1923.

Published for the first time.

12. Seven lines in Armenian and one in Arabic engraved
on a marble slab placed above the cemetery gate:

S Lo, Y Casl g bl 5 a0

Q-hinhu qbpbquuw Gl ppowwyunnhp | ph-
Gniphilp quuwwpmbgur ptuwwgh | dnnn-
Yppbwl Gnippummmpbwdp, | Gwhiudbnlng-
pluudp [ inphwp 0oy Ujlipwwytwbh «Ewmpupl U.
U»: [ LRluwy, 24 wuyphy, 1964: | Gp(k)dbhwd:

Transl. from Arabic: Cemetery of the Armenian
communities of Kesab.

Transl. from Armenian: The construction of the
walls of the village cemetery was carried out on
the initiative of Mr. Joe Aintaplian’s “Edison M.
N through donations made by the people of

Kesab. Kesab, 24 April 1964. Yeremian.
Published for the first time.

13. Four lines carved on a marble slab set on a memorial
of the Great Genocide of Armenians:

Snpwpdwl | ptuwwygh wlphphd Guwhw-
nwlGhpm jhywnwhl | wypphbwG GnbhnGh
JhuGwibwghG wnphy: | Ltuwy, 24 wuppy,
1964: | GptubwG:

A memorial dedicated to the martyrs from
Kesab who remain unburied. In commemoration
of the 50th anniversary of the April Genocide.

Kesab, 24 April 1964. Yeremian.
Published in: Cholakian, 1995, 266.




SEV AGHBYUR

The village is situated about 1.5 km east of
Kesab Township. In the early 20th century, it had
three main quarters: southern (at the western base
of Mount Santik), northern and central.

The name of Sev Aghbyur, which is translated
from Armenian as Black Fountain, derives from a
shallow fountain located in the southern quarter of
the village.

Sev Aghbyur does not boast any remarkable
historical monuments. Perhaps, mention can be
made of an ancient site on Mount Santik which
can hardly be discerned.?®

Cemetery

A graveyard (N 35°56' 10.20", E 36° 00' 20.62")
which does not go back to the remote past extends
on a hill north-east of the central quarter of Sev
Aghbyur, within 300 metres of the Turkish-Syrian
border. No funerals have taken place there for
more than half a century now (the local people
have been holding burials in the cemetery of
Kesab Township). As of 2010, the graveyard
retained about 10 burial hills enclosed within
undressed stones.

28 Cholakian, 1995, 321-322.

The village from the south-west; its central and southern quarters (with Mount Santik in the background); burial hills preserved in the local cemetery
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GARATURAN

The village which consists of more than 10 quar-
ters is situated in a slanting valley south-west of
Kesab Township. This valley, which stretches from
the east westward, has a width of about 600 metres
and a length of 6 km, the highest point at its eastern
extremity having an altitude of 750 metres above
sea level. In the north and south, it is edged with
lofty mountains, and in the west, by the Me-
diterranean Sea. In the east, a ravine of a width of
150 metres connects it with the valley of Garatash.

Most presumably, the toponym of Garaturan,
which sounds as K’e’re terun® in the local vernac-
ular, derives from the Latin word corridori (corri-
doio in Italian) meaning a corridor and reflecting
the geographical position of the village.

Ancient Site in the Coastal Quarter

An ancient site (N 35° 55' 41.70", E 35° 55'
03.04") called Metz Khandak (Great Ditch) by
local Armenians is preserved on the left side of a
coastal gully.

It comprises some architectural fragments of
the Roman Era as well as remnants of old ram-
parts that can be seen on the seashore. A number
of archaeological finds unearthed in the site in the
course of agricultural activities date from the
Roman and Byzantine times as well as from the
Crusader period.*°

Around 100 metres up the seashore, where the
present-day cemetery of Garaturan extends, there
are several mausoleums stretching from the north
southward. One of them is built of undressed
stones and mortar and has a pointed roof, its inte-
rior retaining some remnants of plaster.

29 Ibid., 277.
30 «UntikiiwG dwinyy [Arevelian Mamul], no. 50 (1906),
1231. Also see Cholakian, 1995, 284-286.

The western part of the valley of Garaturan; Manjiklek and Galamterlek Quarters from the south-east; a mausoleum in the cemetery of the coastal quarter; an architectural fragment from an ancient
coastal site; the same site from the south-west
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St. Sargis Church

This medieval church (N 35° 55' 38.82", E 35°55'
00.78") used to stand on a rock towering at the south-
ern extremity of the aforementioned coastal site.

In 1896, during the construction of an Ottoman
guard house over part of the ruined church, the
local peasants unclosed a marble slab engraved
with an inscription, not Armenian, and snakes
embracing a cross.*!

Later another piece of marble, a metre long
and equally wide, was found in the ruined sanctu-
ary of the church: it was adorned with a cross, a
human skull and a snake.*

In 1986 a storm toppled down the only surviv-
ing part of St. Sargis Church, the central section of
its sanctuary, which was still preserved to a height
of 8 metres.>

During our visit to Garaturan in 2010, no vestiges
of the church could any longer be found and an old
border watch-house was located in part of its site.

St. Sargis Church was built of the local undres-
sed stone and mortar. According to the available
archive photographs, its sanctuary was circular in
plan both outwardly and inwardly, with 3 win-
dows opening from its eastern wall.

St. Gevorg Church

St. Gevorg Church, which probably dates back
to the 18th century, is situated in the vicinity of the
coastal cemetery. At present it is semi-ruined, its
surviving parts comprising the angular sections of
its sanctuary and western wall, as well as the west-
ern side of what is either a window or a door open-
ing from the western part of its southern wall.

The church represents a uni-nave structure
which probably had a semi-cylindrical vault. It is
built of the local undressed stone and mortar.

St. Gevorg Church retains an inscription of
1770 which has apparently been removed from its
original place of location.

Four lines engraved on a stone:

. [Ywdnda(®) qbybmb)gh)u(®) ... | wlnil
uppnjl GEnpquy, | j()2(w)u(w)y hngnj u(w)h-
(nbu)h | UrtkinhphG AU (1770)-haG:

...by the will (?) ...this church (?) ...of St. Gevorg
in memory of Mahtesi Avetik’s soul. 1219 (1770).

Published in: Cholakian, 1995, 287.

Note: Cholakian’s publication of the inscription is incom-

plete.

31 Cholakian, 1995, 285.

32 «UntiukiwG dwinyy [Arevelian Mamul], no. 50 (1906),
1231.

33 Cholakian, 1995, 285.

St. Gevorg Church

The plan of St. Sargis Church; its sanctuary (preserved until 1986) from the south-east; the watch-house built over the church ruins;
the plan of St. Gevorg Church
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The sanctuary of St. Gevorg Church; an inscribed stone of 1770 and a tracing of its inscription
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Islamic Mausoleum

An Islamic mausoleum (N 35° 55' 36.62", E
35° 54' 59.76") which presumably traces back to
the 18th century is situated 100 metres south of
the seaside, 60 metres south of a border-guarding
unit.

This funerary monument, which is built of the
local undressed stone and mortar, represents a rec-
tangular structure stretching from the north west-
ward and from the south eastward. It consists of
two chambers, each of which is surmounted by a
dome. The only entrance to the mausoleum opens
from the southern wall of its eastern room, which
leads into the western one.

Cemetery of the Coastal Quarter
A graveyard (N 35°55'37.88", E 35° 55' 02.98")
lying in the vicinity of St. Gevorg Church pre-
serves about 10 inscribed tombstones and numer-
ous burial hills enclosed within undressed stones.

1. Five lines carved on a slab set on the western side of a
rectangular tombstone standing on a single-step pedestal:

Uumnn hwlqsh | Bwlinp {wllh/twdb, olGwi
1925, | ogn(u)n(nu) 20, dbinwi [ jniGhu 30, 1926:
In this grave reposes Hakob Hanniyan, born
on 20 August 1925, dead since 30 June 1926.
Published in:. Cholakian, 1995, 322.

2. Six lines carved on a slab set on the western side of a
rectangular tombstone standing on a single-step pedestal:

Uuwm hwlgsh | Obpn(1)G Muwynidlbwlb, oG
dwmn | 13, 1927, dbnwrt 5 | jniGi(hu), 1934 opoh
| wnlpwony:

In this grave reposes Tzerun Papujian, who
was born on 13 March 1927 and fell victim to a
car accident on 5 June 1934.

Published for the first time.
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3. Four lines engraved on a slab set on the face of a rec-
tangular tombstone:

Uunn hwlqsh | Uitbmpu QuyhpbwbG' |
«Upquphly», | 1895-1937:

In this grave reposes Avetis Gayishian,
Ashgarik. 1895 to 1937.

Published in: Cholakian, 1995, 322.

4. Five lines engraved on a slab set on the face of a rectan-
gular tombstone:

Uun hwlgsh | Ubpnp - GQuip/dppbw, oGu
[ 1933, dwmn 16, | vbnwi 19(37, 0q.] | [7]:

In this grave reposes Serob G. Karmirian, born
on 16 March 1933, dead since 7 August 1937.

Published in: Cholakian, 1995, 322.
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5. Four lines engraved on the face of a tombstone:

Uuwn hwlgsh | Uophw Nu..., [ 0G(wi) 1860,
JniGhu 4, [ vbn(w) 1948, dw(un) 1:

In this grave reposes Sofia Pa..., born on 4
June 1860, dead since 1 March 1948.

Published for the first time.

6. Eight lines engraved on the face of a rectangular tomb-
stone:

Uuw [ hwlgsh [ Uppuwhwd [ Upnjbwd, [ 0Gwi
1906, | ywpwn 6-pdG, | vbnwr 1950, [ thtn(pnuu)p
22-ha:

In this grave reposes Abraham Aboyan, born
on 6 March 1906, dead since 22 February 1950.

Published in: Cholakian, 1995, 322.

249

7. Four lines engraved on the face of a rectangular tomb-
stone standing on a single-step pedestal:

Uuwn hwligsh [ @Enpg Muwynidbtwd, | 6G(w)
1890, twip(in) 1, | dbn(wi) 1952, jni. 6:

In this grave reposes Gevorg Papujian, born
on 1 March 1890, dead since 6 J. 1952.

Note: Judging from the Armenian original, G. Papujian
died either in January or in June.

Published for the first time.

8. Five lines carved on a slab set on the western side of a
tombstone:

Uuwn hwligsh | @Eknpg Muwymdbwd, | 0G(Gwy)
1892 Q-(w)j(w)u(n)p(w)a, [ h(w)lq(twy) 27 nkly-
w(tidptin), 1967: | ULthquty uppkgkp:

In this grave reposes Gevorg Papujian, born in
Galaturan in 1892, dead since 27 December 1967.
Love each other.

Published in: Cholakian, 1995, 322.

9. Five lines carved on a slab set on the face of a rectan-
gular tombstone:

Uuwn hwlqsh | bwpnil | Upo(j)bwd, | 1880-
1970, | Qupumnipul:

In this grave reposes Khatun Aboyan.
Garaturan, 1880 to 1970.

Published for the first time.
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10. Five lines carved on a slab set on the face of a rectan-
gular tombstone:

Uwmn hwlqsh | Onpd | Muwwymdtwd, | 0G(Gwy)
1938, h(w)l(qluwy) 1976, | Qumuunnimul:

In this grave reposes George Papujian, who
was born in 1938 and died in Garaturan in 1976.

Published for the first time.



11. Five lines carved on a slab set on the face of a rectan-
gular tombstone:

Uuwm hwligsh | Ubpnp | U. Upo(y)bwd, | 1887-
1982, | Qupumnipul:

In this grave reposes Serob A. Aboyan.
Garaturan, 1887 to 1982.

Published for the first time.

St. Stepanos Church

St. Stepanos Church (N 35° 55' 06.79", E 35°
55' 29.49"), which was built in 1908, stands in
the vicinity of some houses belonging to the
Abikunts. It represents a uni-nave rectangular
structure, with its only entrance opening from
the west. The prayer hall is illuminated through
2 windows opening from each of its northern

St. Stepanos Church from the north-west and an eastward view of its interior

and southern walls. The small apse, which is
semi-circular in plan, is within the rectangular
volume of the building outwardly. The church
has a level roof resting on a pair of wooden pil-
lars which rise in the centre of the hall. The
monument is built of the local undressed stone

and mortar (in 1987 it was renovated by Land
and Culture Organisation).

Below follow three inscriptions commemorat-
ing the construction of St. Stepanos Church
(1908), the addition of its font (1915) and its over-
haul of 1987.

25



26

1. Two lines carved on a marble slab set above the west-
ern entrance of the church:

N30 | 1908:
1357 (1908).
Published in: Cholakian, 1995, 313.

2. Engraved on the marble font of the church:
1915, th(tinpnuwip) 21:

21 February 1915.

Published in: Cholakian, 1995, 313.

3. Three lines carved on a marble slab set on the western
facade of the church:

U(mipp) Umbihwnu bknbgh hwyng | Gnpn-
qliguwn jwih wmbwnb 1987, | wpnbwdp hwj dn-
nnypnbtwl:

The Armenian church of St. Stepanos was
renovated through donations made by Armenians
in 1987 A.D.

Published in: Cholakian, 1995, 313.

The western facade of St. Stepanos Church; its font and plan
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Sourb Astvatzatzin (Holy Virgin) Church
The church of Sourb Astvatzatzin, dating back
to 1890, used to be situated in the vicinity of
Ghazarlek Quarter of Garaturan. After its total
destruction in the aftermath of a landslip in 1942,
a new church was built 50 metres south of its site
in 1961 (its belfry was added in 1991).34

34 Cholakian, 1995, 312.

This church being too unremarkable, in 2008
the members of the local community pulled it
down and built another (N 35° 54' 52.29", E 35° 56'
56.97") in 2009.

Below follow 3 inscriptions commemorating
the construction activities relating to Sourb Astva-
tzatzin Church.



1. Four lines carved on a marble slab set above the north-
ern entrance to the church of 1961:

Chliigui U(nmipp) Uumnnuuwowohl | Lybnk-
ghu hwjng | judh mbuunG 1961, | wpnbwdp huy
dnnnypnbwl:

The Armenian church of Sourb Astvatzatzin
was built in 1961 A.D. with means raised by the
Armenian people.

Published in: Cholakian, 1995, 312.
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2. Seven lines engraved on a marble slab set above the
entrance to the belfry of the church of 1961:

Unippbguwr qulqulu | bilknbginju wp-
n(G)wdp [ wkp G mhly(hG) Uhuwp UwGdhibwd,
| h jhpwnwly hopl hipkwlg’ | Goptp bi hoplin-
popl’ | Untihwl UwGshybwGGhph: | 26 oqnu-
wmnu, 1991:

The church bell was donated by Mr. and Mrs.
Misak Manjikian in memory of their father Nofer
and their uncle Stepan Manjikian. 26 August
1991.

Published in: Cholakian, 1995, 312.

3. Eleven lines engraved on a marble slab set east of the
entrance to the church of 2009:

b huwjpuybnmpbut [ wm(tp) w(tp) Upwd U
Jwpnnhlnupl | Ukoh SwGG Gpghlihng, [ junwe-
Gnpnmpluwl [ n(kp) Cwhwl u(ppwqub) buh(u-
Unwnu) UwpghubwGh | iunnigwn unipp Glibknb-
ghu | julmG U(mipp) UunnuwdwoGhl, | wp-
nhwdp pwpbwywyn quuulpug | Rbphny hwjng
ptidhu, | h pnihl hwyng NGO | 2009:

In the days of His Holiness Aram I, Catholicos
of the Great House of Cilicia, in the times of
Primate Shahan Sargissian, the Right Reverend
Bishop, this holy church of Sourb Astvatzatzin was
constructed in the year 1458 (2009) of the
Armenian calendar through the means of the pious
flock of the Armenian diocese of Beria.

Published for the first time.
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The former building of Sourb Astvatzatzin (Holy Virgin) Church from the south-east (photo 2006); its new building from the same
direction (photo 2010); the inscription of the belfry of the former church; the new church house from the south-east with its con-
struction inscription
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Evangelical Church

The Evangelical church (N 35° 54' 51.39", E 35°
56' 57.43") of Garaturan, which dates back to 1908,
is situated 10 metres south of Sourb Astvatzatzin
Church, in the neighbourhood of Ghazarlek Quarter.

It comprises a rectangular hall with a similar-
ly-shaped bema in the east. Light is let in through
4 windows opening from each of its northern and
southern walls. There are 2 other windows in the
western facade of the church, from which its only
entrance opens. Originally, the monument had a
gable roof of wood,*> which was later replaced by
a concrete one. Its left and right belfries were built
in 1961 and 1992 respectively.

In 1985 the church underwent thorough over-
haul, during which the western section of its hall
was divided into several rooms through partitions.

The western facade of the church retains three
construction inscriptions.

1. Two lines carved on a marble slab set above the church
entrance:

1908, | Quunnnipul:
Galaturan, 1908.

Published for the first time.
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2. Five lines carved on a marble slab placed south of the
church entrance:

<hulintwo 1908-hd, | Gnpngniwo 1985-hd, | h
Jywmwly hwigmgbwy | mpyhG Lopdht | M-
whitiwGha:

Founded in 1908 and renovated in 1985 in
memory of the late Mrs. Lutfie Papikian.

Published for the first time.
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35 Ibid., 315.

An outer view of the western facade of the Evangelical church and its bema inwardly
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3. Nine lines carved on a marble slab set north of the
church entrance:

Gunmgmbgul qulquiuwmnilbpu. | dw-
[uhG’ pGhYy Qqupunmmubgh | JwpnuG L. Uwn-
uipdtwGh | jhpwuulhG, 1961-pG, | wehl' wu-
uniony wuwwmniwlpwl ownwyhG' | Jhp(wuwmn-
ybih) Phiquibn 3. Quyppw(()awlbh | jhrwunu-
Lha, 1992-pG: | Lbwl jumugnidGbpp uua-
pnibguwl | hwnuuwgbwy pupblpodGapn Gnikp-
Ghpny:

The left belfry was built in 1961 in memory of
Vardan L. Saghtejian, a native of Galaturan, and
the right one in 1992 in memory of the Reverend
Byuzand H. Galfayan, a devoted servant of the
Lord. All expenses were covered through dona-
tions made by faithful friends.

Published for the first time.

Fountain
Manjiklek Quarter of Garaturan retains a foun-
tain (N 35° 54' 54.71", E 35° 57' 15.95") built of the
local undressed stone. The inscription that follows

below commemorates the repairs it underwent in
1905.

Engraved on a marble slab set on the fountain facade:

Lnpngbgwr wnphipu i pth thplsh 1905, h
ubiy. wdubiwlG Gphu:

This fountain was renovated on 3 September
1905 A.D.

Published in: Cholakian, 1995, 305.

The construction inscription of the belfry of the Evangelical church; the same church from the south-east; its plan and a measure-
ment of the fountain of Manjiklek Quarter
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Keghetsik Chapel

This chapel (N 35° 54' 57.55", E 35° 57' 20.31"),
which presumably traces back to the early 17th
century, is situated in the neighbourhood of
Garaturan’s Galamterlek Quarter. In 1860 the
Gregorian community of the village repaired the
monument, but in 1866 a certain Hovhannes
Ghalanter, an adherent of the Catholic faith living
near it, destroyed it.*® As of 2010, only the foun-
dations of the chapel were preserved, with some
vestiges of its apse in the east. It was built of the
local undressed stone and mortar.

In 1979 a new chapel of concrete, semi-circu-
lar in plan, was constructed in the site of the bema
section of the former oratory. The inscription that
follows below commemorates this event.

Six lines carved on a marble slab set on the western facade
of the newly-built chapel:

GQupmgmbgun quuunnipu | Gbnbighlh, | b jh-
pwunuly hwGgmgbuwy [ Quipphl; QupbGumtpbwGh
| i pGybpGhpmG: | Qupmgmbgu 1979:

Keghetsik Chapel was built in 1979 in memo-
ry of the late Gabriel Galenterian and his friends.

Published for the first time.

36 «UhoG» [Sion], no. 10 (1866), 152.

The inscription of the newly-built chapel in Galamterlek Quarter; the same quarter from the north-east (with the grove of Keghetsik
Chapel in the centre); the southern part of the sanctuary of the old chapel together with its foundations; the new chapel from the
south-west



The chapel used to be adjoined by a small
cemetery from which only a tombstone of 1885
has reached our days.

Four lines in Turkish in the Armenian script carved on a
marble slab set on the face of the tombstone:

UwldhilwG OhwGGEuplG onim GQupuuyb-
wmpli | wonfhyp 1879, dwmn 4, Jt/pupn 1885,
th(tan)py(w)p 4:

Ohanes Manjikian’s son Karapet, born on 4
March 1879, dead since 4 February 1885.
Published in: Cholakian, 1995, 324.

Apart from the aforementioned sites and mon-
uments, Garaturan also has two graveyards (N 35°
54' 46.31", E 35° 56' 37.02"; N 35° 54' 48.72", E
35°56' 43.81") located in the area between Upper
Tetezlek and Ghazarlek Quarters. Another ceme-
tery (N 35°55'06.41", E 35°57'45.98"), preserved
above Galamterlek Quarter,37 retains a spate of
inscribed tombstones.

37 Gartashian, 288-290.

u.l.'

The northern part of the sanctuary of Keghetsik Chapel; its plan; the only tombstone surviving in the adjacent cemetery and
its epitaph
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GARATASH

Garatash (translated from Turkish as Black
Stone) is situated about 1.5 km west of Kesab
Township.

It became a place of permanent residence after
Garaturan’s landfall of 1942, when several fami-
lies, survivors of that disaster, took up living
there.®

Pashort Village Site

The village site of Pashort, which has a
remarkably high geographical position (hence
derives its name, which means An Elevated Place,
as translated from Turkish) is preserved 2.5 km
north-west of Garatash.

The village was founded in the early 19th cen-
tury. After 1939 the local peasants lost part of their
fields as the new borderline between Syria and
Turkey ran just within 100 metres of the houses.
In 1947 all the inhabitants of Pashort repatriated
into Armenia.*

At present the village site (N 35°55' 38.17", E
35° 56' 52.91") comprises the ruins of several
houses and a cemetery (N 35° 55'30.26", E 35° 57"
01.06") extending to the south-east. As of 1995,
the latter lay almost completely devastated—the
handiwork of the Turkish border guards—with
only 3 tombstones surviving.*’ During our visit to
Pashort in 2010, we saw its graveyard in a condi-
tion that was even worse: the Turkish border
guards had dug up the graves, and only a single
broken memorial slab could still be found there.

Five lines carved on the face of this memorial slab:

Uuwmn hwligsh | dJwpnmhh | Unjutubwd, |
olGiwn 1842, | vbnwi 1912:

In this grave reposes Varduhi Movsessian,
born in 1842, dead since 1912.

Published in: Cholakian, 1995, 330.

38 Cholakian, 1995, 309-310.
39 Ibid., 327, 329.
40 TIbid., 330.

A view of Garatash Village; Pashort Village Site from the south; an inscribed tombstone broken by Turkish border guards and a
grave that has been dug up



NERKIN GYUGH

Nerkin Gyugh, which is also called Eskyuren
(translated from Turkish as Old Cradle), is situat-
ed about 2 km south-east of Kesab Township.

It has two quarters, the central one and Khayet,
which is located south-west of it.

Nerkin Gyugh preserves the oldest Armenian
monument throughout Kesab, a cross-stone of the
15th to 16th centuries: this has given rise to a gen-
eral assumption that the first Armenian resettlers
of the district took up living in this very village.
Until the “70s of the 20th century, the cross-stone
was set on the facade of a local fountain (N 35° 55'
13.23", E 36° 00' 08.84"), beneath its arch. Later,
when this structure tumbled down, it was placed
right above the pipe from which the water flowed.

Facade | _
e

Plan

Nerkin Gyugh Village as seen from the south-west; its old fountain from the north-west; its measurement; the present-day fountain from the west (with the cross-stone above the pipe); the same cross-

stone and its tracing
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Rock-Cut Sepulchre
In 2008 a rock-cut sepulchre was unclosed in
the Kilaghpians’ yard in Nerkin Gyugh Village. It
stretches from the east westward, its entrance open-
ing from the east. The body used to lie on a rectan-
gular pedestal standing at a height of 10 cm above
the floor, near the southern wall of the sepulchre.
Lately the local Catholic community has consecrat-
ed the sepulchre as a chapel (the human remains
uncovered here have been re-buried).
Two rock-cut oil press stones, probably dating
from the ancient period, can be seen in the vicini-
ty of the sepulchre.

Cemetery

A graveyard (N 35° 55' 12.55", E 36° 00'
07.72") extending around Keghetsik Chapel (as of
2010, only an architectural fragment survived
from the chapel) retains around 10 inscribed
tombstones, the oldest of which traces back to
1891. Below follow several of the epitaphs of the
cemetery:

1. Six lines carved on the face of a memorial slab:
Uju b mwwub Ulpdwl(twG) | Uwpghuhd,
np olun 1841 | tr dbnun 1891, j(n)Gy(wp) 11:

The rock-cut sepulchre from the south-east and a westward view of its interior; the cemetery with the remnants of Keghetsik Chapel under the tree in the centre; an architectural fragment from the same
chapel and two rock-cut oil press stones of the ancient period




Bwpmphili UtpdwGbwd, np | oGun 1879 b
dbinwr 1911, | j(m)Gy(wp) 17:

In this grave reposes Sargis Merjanian, who was
born in 1841 and passed away on 11 January 1891.

Harutiun Merjanian, who was born in 1879
and died on 17 January 1911.

Four lines carved on a slab erected at the western edge of
the memorial stone:

UtipotiGiyuG | Uwph | Unyjubiuh, | 1928-1945:
Mari Movses Merjenian, 1928 to 1945.

Published for the first time.

2. Four lines engraved on a marble slab set on the western
edge of a rectangular tombstone:

Uuwn hwlgsh | Lund Lhpunubwd, | 1892-
1981, | Rtuwy, Fuphipu(:

In this grave reposes Naum Kilaghpian. 1892
to 1981, Eskyuran, Kesab.

Published for the first time.

3. Four lines engraved on a marble slab set on the western
edge of a rectangular tombstone:

Uuwn hwliqsh | Lnithq Lhpunybwd, | 1901-
1986, | Fuljpipud:

In this grave reposes Luiz Kilaghpian. 1901 to
1986, Eskyuran.

Published for the first time.

4. Three lines engraved on a marble slab set on the west-
ern edge of a rectangular tombstone:

Uumnn hwlqsh | bwshly U. Lhjunybwd, |
1925-2000:

In this grave reposes Khachik N. Kilaghpian.
1925 to 2000.

Published for the first time.

Sourb Astvatzatzin (Holy Virgin) Chapel
The chapel of Sourb Astvatzatzin (N 35° 55'
12.48", E 36° 00' 08.62"), which is situated in the
neighbourhood of the cemetery of Nerkin Gyugh
Village, was built in 1959 according to its con-
struction inscription.

Two lines in Arabic and three in Armenian carved on a
marble slab set above the chapel entrance:

le s [ 1908 L 538 Sueeall Lual] LS ity

OhsSeal Ly 6 Luin, V) Las Ll L]

Chlbtgwi U(nipp) Uumﬁlwmua]lﬁ dwunninu
[ Gnihpunnmmpliwdp | hwy dnpmpnbwd, | 1959:

This chapel of Sourb Astvatzatzin was built
through contributions made by the Armenian peo-
ple. 1959.

Published for the first time.
Note: The Arabic inscription has the same contents.

The oldest burial slab of the cemetery; Sourb Astvatzatzin (Holy Virgin) Chapel from the north-west and its construction inscrip-
tion; Sivtik Chapel from the west and two newly-sculpted cross-stones, the first of which is in the cemetery and the second near
the eastern entrance to the village

Sivtik Chapel
This monument (N 35° 55' 15.32", E 36° 00'
57.57") stands in the immediate vicinity of the
Turkish-Syrian borderline, a km east of Nerkin

Gyugh Village. It was built in the 2000s a little far
from the site of an older domed chapel that had
been exploded by the Turkish frontier guards in
the late 20th century.*!

41 Cholakian, 1995, 342-343.
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TYUZAGHAJ

Tyuzaghaj is situated about 4.5 km south-east
of Kesab Township. The toponym, which is trans-
lated from Turkish as Straight Tree, derives from a
wood of upright fir trees lying in the east of the
village.

Tyuzaghaj was established in the mid-19th
century, when several Armenian families from
Korkyune, Chakaljek and Chinar resettled in its
territory and took possession of vast plots of for-
mer woodland where trees had been cut down for
industrial purposes.*?

The village cemetery, which dates back to the
times of this resettlement, saw burials until the
mid-20th century (since then the dead of
Tyuzaghaj have found repose in the graveyard of
Kesab Township). As of 2010, some burial hills,
enclosed within undressed stones, were still pre-
served in its site densely covered with vegetation.

Judging from the archaeological finds
unearthed in the territory of Tyuzaghaj, it was
probably densely populated during the period
between the Roman Era and the Middle Ages.
Most of the historical heritage of the village has
not come down to our days.

In the course of some agricultural work carried
out in the vicinity of the large bridge of Tyuzaghaj,
clay vessels, architectural pieces and bridge foun-
dations have been unclosed.

The small bridge of Tyuzaghaj used to be
adjoined by an old one, which was preserved until
the ‘80s of the 20th century. The archaeological
finds of this area include mosaic pieces and a ring
with a stone the level surface of which is embel-
lished with a relief of high perfection.

Among the historical sites of Tyuzaghaj, men-
tion can be made of Khanji located near a fountain
of the same name. Pottery pieces, a coin from the
times of Armenian king Tigran the Great and oth-
ers from the Roman and Byzantine Periods have
been unearthed in the plain of Gazukla, which is
within the village territories.*’

CHINAR

Chinar lies about 1.5 km south of Kesab
Township. The toponym, which is translated from
Turkish as Platan, derives from a huge plane ris-
ing near a local fountain. The village does not
boast any historical monuments, but it is home to
the most abundant fountain throughout the district
of Kesab.

42 Ibid., 375.
43 TIbid., 374-375.
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Tyuzaghaj from the north-west; Chinar from the south-west; the facade of the village fountain from the south and an inner view of
the canal



CHAKALIJEK

Chakaljek (translated from Turkish as A Place
Teeming with Jackals), which was established in
the mid-19th century, is situated about 1.7 km
south-west of Kesab Township. It has two quar-
ters: the central one and Mateslek, which is situat-
ed south-east of it.

In 1969 a fountain was built in the village.

Six lines carved on a marble slab set on the fountain facade:

Chlbguwin wnphipu 9pnj gnynipbwl | gwGhip
bt owfupip nppingl vGohG | Pppnbwl qlipnuiu-
wmwbhl YbhwagnmGh' | b mju jhpwmwly now-
plwl [ hwpgl hipbw(g, hwidubw GG ognuwmnnuh |
| pnihl Lphumnuh 1969:

This cool-water fountain was constructed in
August 1969 A.D. through the efforts and means of
the sons of the Terterians’ great and noble family
in perpetual memory of their forefathers.

Published in: Cholakian, 1995, 349.
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The village from the south-east; the local fountain from the south-west and east; its construction inscription on its facade
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KORKYUNE

Korkyune is located about 2 km south-west of
Kesab Township. It is first mentioned by the name
of Corconai,* very similar to Kurkunu, the dialec-
tal version of the toponym, in a note of award
issued by Duke Renald of Antioch in 1186.% It
should be noted, however, that the village territo-
ry retains earlier archaeological finds, including a
capital of the 2nd to 4th centuries which is kept in
the yard of the local Evangelical church. Besides,
it also preserves mosaic fragments, clay vessels,
coins of the ancient and medieval periods as well
as others attributed to Cilician Armenia unclosed
in the course of agricultural work.*

The castle of Korkyune (N 35° 54' 37.88", E 35°
58'33.53") used to tower on a hill west of the vil-
lage. Judging from the remnants of its semi-ruined
ramparts, they were built of the local undressed
stone and mortar.*’ During our visit to Korkyune
in 2010, we found the castle as totally levelled to
the ground without a single vestige left (Syriatel
Mobile Operator had built a cellular base station
in its site).

St. Stepanos Chapel and Cemetery

The remnants of the Apostolic chapel of St.
Stepanos (N 35°54'33.14", E 35° 58' 48.80") are sit-
uated 150 metres south-west of the Evangelical
church of Korkyune.

It was preserved standing until the early 19th
century and was forsaken in the middle of the
same century, when the local inhabitants convert-
ed to the Evangelical faith.

The sanctuary section of the chapel was pre-
served until the late 19th century.* In the course
of time, its last vestiges were devoured by the
roots of a huge oak tree growing in its immediate
vicinity and held sacred amidst the local people.

The cemetery of Korkyune, which extends
around St. Stepanos Chapel, retains about fifty
inscribed tombstones. We have selected 25 of
them, which are presented in chronological order.

1. Three lines engraved on the face of a burial slab:

ShiGh | Uptjwd, | 19-pn nuip:
Tyuni Abelian, 19th century.

Published for the first time.

44 Uphpwl 9., UhumwG [Gh. Alishan, Sisvan] (Venice,
1885), 424.

45 Cholakian, 1995, 354.

46 1Ibid., 352.

47 Ibid.

48 1Ibid., 352-353, 359.

The village from the south-west; the castle hill from the west; a capital (2nd to 4th centuries) in the yard of the Evangelical church;
a partial view of the cemetery extending around St. Stepanos Chapel



The site of St. Stepanos Chapel with an oak-tree growing where once its sanctuary stood; some chapel stones intned with the tree

2. Nineteen lines carved on the face and double-stepped
pedestal of a rectangular tombstone:

Upgwjutl Gphhbwy: | Jwul Lphumnup, |
YJwuli hwjpblbwg | hnu hwiqsh | inpg Uquin
Uoptn Upkbw, | 5 hnlpn(bdpbp), 1945, 18 hnlj-
w(tidpbp), 2008: | UGdGnikp wpupwpnn hwyjp,
wnpduwnGbpnil qulsp qhlpp hnfuwnpbg | Udt-
phljuykl Ltoppoliwy, | hnjwGhhl wmwly hp G-
Juwhuwypbpm 18-pn nuipl G, | Upky, Gupuwyban,
SBuwlnp' | vwhwgwo Lloppoliwy, ShiGh' | GlGok-
ghwy Ltoppoliwy, | Qulnu’ | GnbknGh qnh,
uwwllnuwd Qupp-Cpnnip 1915-p6, | Bwlnp' |
Globglwy Lloppoliwy 1915, | Lopkp' | Glgok-
gty Udtiphlpu 1995:

From Artsakh to Cilicia. For the sake of Christ
[and] for the sake of homeland. In this grave
reposes George Azat Nofer Abelian (5 October
1945 to 18 October 2008). Hearkening to his fore-
fathers’ appeal, the Armenian, ever struggling
selflessly, moved from America to Kyorkona to be
under the protection of his ancestors [who lived
here] as early as the 18th century: Abel, Karapet
[and] Hakob, who died in Kyorkona; Tyuni,
reposing in Kyorkona, Panos, a Genocide victim
killed in Jeser-Sheghur in 1915; Hakob, who died
in Kyorkona in 1915; Nofer, who died in America
in 1995.

Published for the first time.

3. Five lines carved on the face of a rectangular grave-
stone:

UnnminG Uptjftwd, oG | 1862, ubujn(tu-
pbp) 15, | dbnwr [ 1915, j(n)Gy(w)p 3:
Soghomon Abelian, born on 15 September
1862, dead since 3 January 1915.
Published in: Gartashian, 290; Cholakian, 1995, 362.
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4. Ten lines carved on a slab set on the face of a rectangu-
lar tombstone:

Uun hwlgsh [ lowshp U | Qbbwbwd, | 1892-
1930: | «GpwGh hbgbjpmG, Jwulblgh winbp |
whwnh dunwbGpbl phhppy: | Unnp(tnu) 5:5:

In this grave reposes Khacher M. Chelepian
(1892 to 1930). “Blessed are the meek, for they
will inherit the earth” (Matthew 5:5).

Published for the first time.

39



40

5. Four lines carved on the face of a rectangular tombstone
standing on a single-step pedestal:

Uuwnn hwligsh | Gupbp | Qbjkwybwd, | 1893-
1939:

In this grave reposes Yester Chelepian. 1893 to
1939.

Published for the first time.

6. Four lines carved on a slab set on the face of a rectan-

aular tombstone 8. Ten lines carved on a slab set on the face of a rectangu- 10. Eight lines carved on the face of a rectangular tombstone:
u : lar tombstone: Uuwn hwG
qsh | Qupmhbp U. | Upkkwd, |
5 g”m 1119:,;11&(;211 / HU wbﬁmz LIU,% é,u Uphjtwd, | Uun hwligsh | UliGw bo. | Quplybawd, | 1928~ y(ictauy) 1883, hw)g(twy) 1957; | PGop huiwp
g wl])d. > h(u)li(gbu) h " beli 1945: | «Gpwlh wlnbg, [ np umnny dwjpmp GG, | wyppp Lppjunnu b, b dbpGyp’ ognun:
b In. ! Iz;;;m;e ;ep?seslﬂggzgrlus ak M. Abelian, Juubjqh wlnlp yhunp [ mbuGal quunn(w)o»: In this grave reposes Zaruhi S. Abelian, born
orm » dead smce ' | Uwnnp(tnu) 5:8: in 1883, dead since 1957. I live [only] for Christ’s

Published for the first time. In this grave reposes Anna Kh. Chelepian
: (1928 to 1945). “Blessed are the pure in heart, for
they will see God” (Matthew 5:8).

Published in: Cholakian, 1995, 362.

sake, and my death is useful.

Published for the first time.

7. Five lines carved on a slab set on the face of a rectan- 9. Four lines carved on the face of a rectangular tombstone: I1. Five lines carved on a marble slab set on the face of a
gular tombstone: Uwn hwlqsh | bUmphdw U. loupptau, | 0G(kuwy) rectangular tombstone:

Uuwmn hwliqsh | Lowuhl | U, Nbmppbwd, | 1894, h(w)lig(tauy) 1946: | «<nli Guyy hwlighuny: Uun hwligsh | Bmjubih Lwy | Bppnbwd, |
1934-1944, | LropphGt: In this grave reposes Nuridza S. Kheterian, 1849-1957, | Lluwyy:

In this grave reposes Lusin N. Petirian.  porn in 1894, dead since 1946. “...you will find In this grave reposes Hovsep Kal Terterian.
Kyorkine, 1934 to 1944. rest for your souls” (Matthew 11:29). Kesab, 1849 to 1957.

Published for the first time. Published in: Gartashian, 290; Cholakian, 1995, 362. Published for the first time.



12. Four lines carved on a marble slab set on the face of a
rectangular tombstone:

Uumnn hwlqsh | Lywl Uplkbwd, | oG(kwy)
1885, h(w)l(qliwy) 1958, | LropphilE:

In this grave reposes Nshan Abelian: born in
1885, he died in Kyorkyune in 1958.

Published for the first time.

13. Eight lines carved on the face of a rectangular tombstone:

Uumn hwlqsh | S8njubiph | Qugniubwd, |
oli(kwy) 1887, h(w)lq(twy) 1966, th(b)n(pnuu)p
11: | UpnupGbpm | jhywuwlp [ ophGhwy Ypypuwj:

In this grave reposes Hovsep Gagussian, born
in 1887, dead since 11 February 1966. The mem-
ory of the just will [always] be blessed.

Published for the first time.

16. Five lines carved on a marble slab set on the face of a
rectangular tombstone:

Uuin hwlqsh | Quilnu | Pppnbwd, | 1884-
1963, | Rtuwny:

In this grave reposes Panos Terterian. Kesab,
1884 to 1963.

Published for the first time.

14. Nine lines carved on the face of a rectangular tombstone:

Uuwn hwligsh | Uwdnily | Upkjtwd, | 1881-
1960: | Uwlnpywl | UphibwG' | QLtybwd, |
1899-1980: | Lropphilt:

In this grave repose Samuel Abelian (1881 to
1960) [and] Manushak Abelian Jelepian (1899 to
1980). Kyorkyune.

Published for the first time.

15. Five lines carved on a marble slab set on the face of a
rectangular tombstone:

Uuwn hwiqsh | UphGwa | Qbibybwd, | 0G(Gwy)
1892, h(w)G(glwy) 1960, | LEoppniliw:

In this grave reposes Minas Chelepian: born
in 1892, he died in Kyorkuna in 1960.

Published for the first time.

17. Five lines carved on a marble slab set on the face of a
rectangular tombstone:

Uuwnn hwlqsh | “Lmuwu | Uwnnpnubwd, |
oli(tiuy) 1881, h(w)G(qbwy) 1967, | Lopphitw:

In this grave reposes Ghukas Mattossian: born
in 1881, he died in Korkyuna in 1967.

Published for the first time.
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18. Five lines carved on a marble slab set on the western
side of a rectangular tombstone:

Uuwn hwlqsh | Ghpwnu NMbwmppbwd, | oGt
1880, | hwlqtun 1969, | Rluwy, LloppLGL:

In this grave reposes Kirakos Peterian: born
in 1880, he died in Kyorkene (Kesab) in 1969.

Published for the first time.
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19. Five lines carved on a marble slab set on the face of a
rectangular tombstone:

Uuwn hwligsh | Uunw U. UpkibwG, | oG(wi)
1907, d(w)h(wgwi) 1972: | Ukpp plun shyGuwnp:

In this grave reposes Sara S. Abelian, born in
1907, dead since 1972. Love is everlasting.

Published for the first time.

20. Four lines carved on a marble slab set on the face of a

rectangular tombstone:

Uuwn hwlqsh | Bwlnp Q. Qbpuuwybwl’ |

Swqpto, | 1878-1973, jnili(hu) 5:
In this grave reposes Hakob G. Gerpapian
(Hakimo). 1878 to 5 June 1973.

Published for the first time.

21. Four lines carved on a marble slab set on the face of a
rectangular tombstone:

Uuwnn hwligsh | UGGw UpkibwdG, | oG(kwy)
1883, h(w)l(qliwy) 1974, | LEopphilL:

In this grave reposes Anna Abelian: born in
1883, she died in Kyorkyune in 1974.

Published for the first time.

22. Three lines carved on a slab set on the face of a rec-
tangular tombstone:

Uuwn hwlgsh | Swphnw bpyuybwd, |
1900-1975, jnilihu 22:

In this grave reposes Farita Gerpapian. 1900
to 22 June 1975.

Published for the first time.
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23. Five lines carved on a slab set on the face of a rectan-
gular tombstone:

Uumn hwlqsh | Qupml | Qhbwbwd, |
oli(tiwy) 1897, h(w)G(qbtwy) 1976, | Lnppnilw:

In this grave reposes Garun Chelepian: born
in 1897, he died in Korkuna in 1976.

Published for the first time.

24. Five lines carved on a marble slab set on the face of a
rectangular tombstone:

Uuwn hwlgsh | Lpwl | “lpnppbwd, | 1888-
1977, | LnppniGw:

In this grave reposes Nshan Derderian.
Korkuna, 1888 to 1977.

Published for the first time.

25. Five lines carved on a marble slab set on the face of a
rectangular tombstone:

Uuwn hwlGqsh | Uwph | Uwwpnubwd@, |
oli(tiwuy) 1884, h(w)G(qltiwy) 1979, | LnpphiGw:

In this grave reposes Mari Mattossian: born in
1884, she died in Korkyuna in 1979.

Published for the first time.
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Evangelical Church

The Evangelical church (N 35°54'37.57", E 35°
58' 51.20") of Korkyune, which dates back to
1898, stands at the north-eastern extremity of the
village. It has a rectangular hall with a similarly
shaped bema in the east. The church is illuminat-
ed through 4 windows opening from each of its
northern and southern facades. Both its entrances
are in the west.

Originally, the church had a level earthen
roof*’ which was later replaced by a concrete one.
It is built of the local undressed stone and mortar.

The belfry of the church, standing at the east-
ern edge of its southern facade, retains a bell dat-
ing from the early 20th century.

In 1989 the church underwent complete over-
haul, during which its outer facades were plas-
tered, and its ramparts and western facade were re-
vetted with roughly-hewn stones. It retains 3 ins-
criptions one of which commemorates its con-
struction in 1898, and the other two its renovation
in 1989.

1. Seven lines in Turkish in the Armenian script carved on
a marble slab set above the church entrance, on its western
facade:

«lowGhd hyunnkp fuwGlk ptuldpyt opmGw-
dawquppy. | Uwwnp(Enuhp) 21:13: | LEopphiGE hG-
dfph | EpdkGhtwG phihutuhp: | 8(m)Gy(wp) 8,
(18)98 plyw, j(mu)(h)u 21, (18)99 pwuupu | o-
mGunipwpp, 1908:

“My house shall be called the house of
prayer...” [Matthew 21:13]. Armenian Evangeli-
cal church of Korkyune built on 8 January 1898
and allocated on 21 July 1899. Inscribed in 1908.

Published in: Cholakian, 1995, 360.

Note: The last line is published for the first time.

49 Cholakian, 1995, 360.

The church from the west and an eastward view of its interior
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2. Three lines engraved on a marble slab set south of the
church gate:

Pupbqupnmuwo | Uypnps UpkjwGh jhpw-
mwlhl | 1989-hé:
Renovated in memory of Mkrtich Abelian in 1989.

Published for the first time.

3. Three lines engraved on a marble slab set north of the
church gate:

Pupbqupnnuuo | bwshly UpkiwGh jhpw-
mwlhb | 1989-hi:

Renovated in memory of Khachik Abelian in 1989.

Published in: Cholakian, 1995, 361.

Fountain
There is a fountain (N 35° 54' 32.24", E 35° 58'
36.20") 250 metres south-west of Korkyune. It was
built in the site of an older one which had been
destroyed in the 1940s.%

Oil Press
The aforementioned fountain is adjoined by an
oil press (N 35° 54" 32.35", E 35° 58' 35.82").

An oil press; the church plan; its bell and the fountain with its plan

50 Ibid., 356.
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EKIZOLUK
Ekizoluk (translated from Turkish as Two
Springs) is situated about 2.7 km south-west of
Kesab Township.
Until the mid-20th century, it had just a single
quarter, but later Upper and Ajam Quarters were
established in its south-west.

Emmanuel Church

The church (N 35° 54' 24.60", E 35° 58' 10.71")
stands at the south-eastern extremity of the lower
quarter of Ekizoluk. Its construction was under-
taken in 1911 in the site of an older church dating
from 1882. The roofing of the monument remain-
ed unfinished due to the outbreak of WWI and was
eventually completed only in 1956.%!

Emmanuel Church, which is built of the local
roughly-hewn stone and mortar, comprises a rec-
tangular hall, with a similarly shaped bema in the
west. Three pairs of pillars divide the hall into
twelve sections. Light is let in through 4 windows
opening from each of the northern and southern
facades, as well as 2 others opening from each of
the eastern and western facades. Both entrances of
the church are in the east. Its belfry, which forms
an integral part of its general rectangular volume,
stands close to its eastern facade.

Between 1908 and 1913, a priest’s house®* was
constructed north of the church. In 1966 it under-
went some repairs and turned into a library.

1. Seven lines in Turkish in the Armenian script carved on
a block of stone which is not preserved in situ:

«lvwlbd dhdph woyuwiw hwyunnkp JuwGE
wmppy, | bpw 56:7: | Ephqgoinip | hGapyh Epudk-
Gh/bwG thpoptulpwl phihuwup, | 1882:

“Mine house shall be called an house of
prayer for all people [Isaiah 56:7].” Armenian
Evangelical Protestant church of Ekizoluk. 1882.

Published in: Cholakian, 1995, 369.

51 Ibid., 369.
52 Ibid.
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The village from the north-east and its church from the south-west
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2. Three lines incised on the eastern facade of the church:
U(unnuw)o ukp E: | EddwGnity, 1911:

God is love. Emmanuel, 1911.
Published in: Cholakian, 1995, 370.

3. Six lines carved on a marble slab set on the southern
facade of the former priest’s house now serving as a library:

Qmunupuwiu qupnignibgun | odwlmulni-
plwdp mply(hG) Lnuupn | 3. Lwdwpbwbh' h gh-
2wunwly [ hp winiuling' ghunhu pupbpup | uy(w)-
nm)i Bwlnp GwdwpbwGh, | jnighu 30, 1966:

This library was built on 30 July 1966 through
the support of Mrs. Nvard H. Najarian in memory
of her husband, Mr. Hakob Najarian, the benefac-

tor of this village.
Published in: Cholakian, 1995, 372-373.

Cemetery
The graveyard (N 35° 54' 11.02", E 35° 58'
17.40") of Ekizoluk extends on a hill named
Zirato, south-east of the village. It retains a spate
of inscribed tombstones and burial hills enclosed
within undressed stones.

1. Carved on a tombstone:

Uwuwy onnt Qwlinupl YihGh Ownhp 1860,
thtinp. 21 ik wmonuni, 1889, thtunp. Jtpwipn:

Apash’s son Panos’ daughter-in-law Tzaghir,
born on 21 February 1860, dead since February

1889.
Published in: Gartashian, 290-291; Cholakian, 1995, 370.
Note: We have not seen this epitaph.

2. Seven lines engraved on the face of a rectangular tomb-
stone standing on a single-step pedestal:

Uuwnn hwlgsh | Qwlnu Uppglwd, | olhwy
1853 dwijhu 10-pG, | hwiqbwy 1937 nhl(nbu-
pbip) 23-pl: | Uyu phphdp uliqlbg hp | pniuumpp
whl(hG) Repuwpt | Luwdwpbw:

e |

A westward view of the church interior and its plan

In this grave reposes Panos Ashegian, born on
10 May 1853, dead since 23 December 1937. This
tombstone was placed by his daughter, Mrs.

Bersabe Najarian.
Published in: Gartashian, 290-291.
Note: The last three lines are published for the first time.

3. Five lines carved on a marble slab set on the face of a

rectangular tombstone standing on a single-step pedestal:
Uuwn hwlqsh | Bwlnp [ Uwljwpbwd, | 1872-
1952, | Ephiqoniq:

In this grave reposes Hakob Makarian.
Ekizolug, 1872 to 1952.

Published for the first time.

4. Five lines engraved on the face of a rectangular tomb-
stone standing on a single-step pedestal:

Uuin  hwl(qsh) | Gnhw ULwdwp/bwd,
oli(tiwy) 1861, | hwl(qbtuwy) 1958, | jnij(hu) 10:

In this grave reposes Yeghia Najarian, born in
1861, dead since 10 July 1958.

Published for the first time.



5. Six lines carved on a marble slab set on the face of a
rectangular tombstone standing on a single-step pedestal:

Uuwn hwl(qsh) | 8. U. @mphpluwd, | olitwy
1904, | hwliqtwt 1963, | ubwy(nbvptp) 16, | -
phqopmgq:

In this grave reposes H. A. Tutikian, who was
born in 1904 and died in Ekizoluk on 16 Septem-
ber 1963.

Published for the first time.

6. Seven lines carved on a marble slab set on the face of a
rectangular tombstone standing on a single-step pedestal:

Uuwn hwli(Qsh) | Qupnihh | @mphpluud, | 06wy
1868, | hwliqbun 1969, | dwmn 11, | Ephqopnig:

In this grave reposes Zaruhi Tutikian, who was
born in 1868 and died in Ekizoluk on 11 March 1969.

Published for the first time.

7. Five lines carved on a marble slab set on the face of a
rectangular tombstone standing on a single-step pedestal:

Uuwn hwligsh | Phpt | Uwlupbuud, | 1875-
1969, | Ephiqojniq:

In this grave reposes Bibe Makarian. Ekizoluk,
1875 to 1969.

Published for the first time.

8. Twenty-nine lines in Armenian, Arabic and French
engraved on the face of a rectangular tombstone standing on a
single-step pedestal:

Jhnitp Qupuwphliw | UwGhuwdbwiG-Cplky-
wpp’ [ nnuunpp <uyugn G Mwpuwd UwGhuw-
dtiwlh | r Uwpyphp Cplljnpph: | OGwo Mwuy
05 jniGhu, 1911, dbmwo 03 wuyphy, 1971: | Gn-

nuihgn pdhply kmybpn Ghwybdtwbh, | dwjpp
Eppp, dwGhp bt SwhGphjwy-h: | Uwulwqkn

dbpwlubptl guujuwlmpbtuul, wqibkpkl jhqnip,
[ Yty nuybwly UlGqihwgtG: | Uhpmbgun pn-
mpkd, | jhpwumwlp Jun wuhblp:

Violet Katarina Manisajian-Schneiter, the
daughter of Haykazun Parsam Manisajian and
Margrit Schneiter. She was born in Baal on 5 June
1911 and died on 3 April 1971. She was the spouse

of Doctor Robert Jepejian; the mother of Eric,
Vanik and Tanila; a specialist in French literature
and the English language [and] a certificated
nurse from England. Everybody loved her. May

her memory be ever living.

Published for the first time.

Note: We are presenting only the Armenian epitaph as those
in Arabic and French have the same contents.
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9. Five lines carved on a slab set on the face of a rectan-
gular tombstone standing on a single-step pedestal:

Uuwmn hwlgsh | Mnnnu MNobunipwpbwd, |
1883-1973, | Ephqniniq:

In this grave reposes Poghos Poemushakian.
Ekizolug, 1883 to 1973.

Published for the first time.

10. Five lines engraved on the face of a rectangular tomb-
stone:

Uuwnn hwligsh | Gupuybn | <wlkbwd, |
olbwy Mundwnugq, | 1890-1973:

In this grave reposes Karapet Haneshian born
in Paghjaghaz. 1890 to 1973.

Published for the first time.

11. Five lines carved on a slab set on the face of a rectan-
gular tombstone:

Uuwn hwliqsh | Dipphnt | Uwnupdtud, |
1894-1973, | Ephqonip:

In this grave reposes Ferite Saghtejian.
Ekizoluk, 1894 to 1973.

Published for the first time.

12. Five lines carved on a slab set on the face of a rectan-
gular tombstone:

Uuwn hwligsh | LtanG | Uunupdbwd, | 1884-
1975, | Ephqopmip:

In this grave reposes Levon Saghtejian.
Ekizoluk, 1884 to 1975.

Published for the first time.

13. Six lines engraved on the face of a rectangular tomb-
stone standing on a single-step pedestal:

Uuwmn hwl(qsh) | Uhuwgq | Lwdwpbwd, |
oli(twy) 1888, | hwl(qbuwy) 1975, | jnij(hu) 23:

In this grave reposes Misak Najarian, born in
1888, dead since 23 July 1975.

Published for the first time.

Fountain

A fountain (N 35° 54' 17.18", E 35° 58' 06.01"),
probably dating back to the early 20th century, is sit-
uated in the centre of the upper quarter of Ekizoluk.
Originally built of the local undressed stone, in the
1990s it was revetted with finely-dressed ones.

Formerly, the fountain water came from two adja-
cent springs (hence the village name, Ekizoluk, which
is translated as Tio Springs, as mentioned above). At
present, however, it receives water only from the sou-
thern spring, which is perennial and more abundant as
compared to the northern one. The latter almost dries
up in summer-time, while in winters its water gener-
ally outflows from the southern wall of the fountain.

Oil Press
There is an oil press 10 metres east (N 35° 54
24.78", E 35° 58' 11.19") of Emmanuel Church.




VERI (UPPER) PAGHJAGHAZ

Upper Paghjaghaz (as translated from Turkish,
the toponym probably means Entrance to a
Garden) is situated about 5.5 km south-west of
Kesab Township.

The village which dates back to the first half of
the 19th century does not boast any historical
monuments. Perhaps, mention can be made of a
chapel called Keghetsik once located west of the
village, in the east of a local cemetery. Its founda-
tions could still be seen until the late 20th centu-
ry,>® but during our visit to Upper Paghjaghaz in
2010, no vestiges of the chapel survived any
longer.

Cemetery
The cemetery (N 35° 53' 34.63", E 35° 56
25.26") of Upper Paghjaghaz, located west of the
village, retains about 20 inscribed tombstones, the
oldest of which dates from 1950. Below follow 10
of the epitaphs of the graveyard in chronological
order.

1. Five lines carved on a marble slab set on the face of a
rectangular tombstone:

Uuwmn hwlgsh | Mbwnpnu | Qupu(p)bwd, |
1892, 24-7-1950, | h(w)G(qbwy) Mundwnuq:

In this grave reposes Petros Garayan. 1892 to
24.7.1950, Paghjaghaz.

Published for the first time.

2. Five lines carved on a slab set on the face of a rectan-
gular tombstone:

Uumn hwlqsh | Bulnp | Uwpwdwqbwd, |
1882-1952, | Mundwnugq:

In this grave reposes Hakob Saramazian. 1882
to 1952, Paghjaghaz.

Published for the first time.

3. Five lines carved on a slab set on the face of a rectan-
gular tombstone:

Uwn hwliqsh | Gnpt | Uupduqbud, | 2-3-
1885, 17-10-1959, | Muncwnuq:

In this grave reposes Yeghishe Sarmazian.
2.3.1885 to 17.10.1959, Paghjaghaz.

Published for the first time.

53 Cholakian, 1995, 382.

The village from the north-cast and its cemetery

4. Five lines carved on a slab set on the face of a rectan-
gular tombstone:

Uuwnn hwlgsh | Uwph | Uwpwdwqbwd, |
1906-1962, | Ltuwuy:

In this grave reposes Mari Saramazian. 1906
to 1962, Kesab.

Published for the first time.

5. Four lines carved on the face of a rectangular tombstone:
Uuwn hwlgsh | Uwgpnihh | Qupuitoqbwd,
| 1891-1964:

In this grave reposes Magruhi Garakyozian.
1891 to 1964.

Published for the first time.

6. Six lines carved on a slab set on the face of a rectangu-
lar tombstone:

Uuwn hwlqsh | UGGw | Uwpwdwqbwd, |
1878-1972 | Mundwnugq:

In this grave reposes Anna Saramazian. 1878
to 1972, Paghjaghaz.

Published for the first time.
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7. Five lines carved on a slab set on the face of a rectan-
gular tombstone:

Uuwn hwlqsh | Uoul | Qumu(p)bwd, | 1934,
4-5-1974, | h(w)l(qbwy) Mundwnuq:

In this grave reposes Sose Garayan. 1934 to
4.5.1974, Paghjaghaz.

Published for the first time.

8. Five lines carved on a slab set on the face of a rectan-
gular tombstone standing on a single-step pedestal:

Uuwn hwligsh [ owpm b | Uwupduqbw, | 3-5-
1897, 7-2-1979, | Mundwnuq:

In this grave reposes Khatun Sarmazian.
3.5.1897 to 7.2.1979, Paghjaghaz.

Published for the first time.

9. Five lines carved on a slab set on the face of a rectan-
gular tombstone:

Uuwnn hwbigsh | UpGwu | Uwpudwgbwd, |
1900-1979, | Ltuwy:

In this grave reposes Minas Saramazian. 1900
to 1979, Kesab.

Published for the first time.

10. Four lines carved on the face of a rectangular tomb-
stone:

Uuwn hwlgsh | BmjhwGitu | Quupnupbwd, |
1895-1982:

In this grave reposes Hovhannes Chaparian.
1895 to 1982.

Published for the first time.




VARI (LOWER) PAGHJAGHAZ

Lower Paghjaghaz is situated about 7.5 km
south-west of Kesab Township. It was established
in the early 19th century, when several Armenian
families resettled in its territory and took posses-
sion of some vast plots of former woodland where
trees had been cut down for industrial purposes.
Some of these Armenians started working as lum-
bermen for the local influential, wealthy Turks.>*

Lower Paghjaghaz has 3 main quarters: Kaba-
chinar, Chatallek and the central one.

Monastery of the Holy Virgin’s
Transfiguration

The monastery (N 35° 52' 55.92", E 35° 55'
58.34") is located about 300 metres south-west of
Kabachinar Quarter of Lower Paghjaghaz.

After embracing the Latin faith between 1902
and 1903,% the villagers started constructing a
monastery under the auspices of the Custody of
the Holy Land. In 1946, among other estates be-
longing to the Latin Church, the monastic church
shifted into the possession of the Armenian Catho-
lic Patriarchate.

The monastery of the Holy Virgin’s Transfigu-
ration consists of a church, a school and some ad-
joining buildings. The church represents a uni-nave
basilica of a gable roof and a level ceiling of wood.
There is a rectangular apse in the east of the church
hall. It is illuminated through 3 windows opening
from each of its northern and southern facades. The
only entrance to the church is from the west. A door
opening from the southern wall of the apse leads to
the buildings adjoining the monastery.

Fountain
Kabachinar Quarter of Lower Paghjaghaz retains
a fountain (N 35° 53' 05.75", E 35° 56' 08.76") in the
neighbourhood of which, some water pipes of clay
were unearthed during agricultural activities.>®

Petros Aramian’s Collection

While accompanying us during our field work
in Lower Paghjaghaz, P. Aramian, an inhabitant of
its central quarter, showed us his collection of
agricultural tools, objects of everyday use and var-
ious archaeological finds unclosed in the territory
of the village. Among them, particularly notewor-
thy were some fossilised gastropoda remnants and
a rock-cut oil press stone probably dating from the
ancient period.

54 Cholakian, 1995, 384.

55 «UptibitiwG dwinyy» [Arevelian Mamul], no. 50 (1906),
1231.

56 Cholakian, 1995, 385.

The three quarters of the village from the north-east and its church from the south
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An eastward view of the church interior; its western facade; an inscribed slab on the monastic gate and another in the bema section of the church; the key to the church and its plan
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The fountain and its measurement; farming tools (pitchforks, a threshing-board, a sickle and a thimble); a millstone; an oil press stone and fossilised gastropoda remnants from Petros
Aramian’s collection
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Cemetery

The graveyard (N 35° 53' 01.42", E 35° 55'
44.17") of Lower Paghjaghaz is situated around
400 metres north-west of the monastery of the
Holy Virgin’s Transfiguration. As of 2010, it re-
tained some burial hills enclosed within undressed
stones, and more than 20 inscribed tombstones the
oldest of which traces back to 1930.

1. Eight lines carved on a slab set on the face of a rectan-
gular tombstone standing on a single-step pedestal:

Uuwn hwliqshG | nkp i wnphhl | UmudbwG-
Gbp' | Uwpnppnu, | 1894-1930, | NjuwGau, |
1904-1956: | Mundwnuu:

In this grave repose Mr. and Mrs. Aramian:
Martiros, 1894 to 1930, and Ovsanna, 1904 to
1956. Paghjaghas.

Published for the first time.

2. Five lines carved on a slab set on the face of a rectan-
gular tombstone:

Uuwn hwligsh | Doqli | Bwynpbwd, | 1886-
1949, | Mundwnuu:

The entrance to the graveyard and burial hills enclosed within undressed stones

In this grave reposes Josev Hakobian. 1886 to
1949, Paghjaghas.

Published for the first time.

3. Four lines in English and Armenian carved on the face
of a rectangular tombstone:

Here rests in peace | James Hansorian, | 1890-
1953. | Otdu {wlunpbwl [James Hansorian].

Published for the first time.

4. Five lines carved on a slab set on the face of a rectan-
gular tombstone standing on a single-step pedestal:

Uuwn hwligsh | Monnu | Nkshipbwd, | 1867-

1959, | Mundwnuiu:
In this grave reposes Poghos Pejyukian. 1867
to 1959, Paghjaghas.

Published for the first time.

5. Five lines carved on a slab set on the face of a rectan-
gular tombstone standing on a single-step pedestal:

Uuwn hwlgsh | (WuwlGGuw | NEdpipbwd, |
1890-1964, | Mwundwnuwu:

In this grave reposes Ovsanna Pejyukian.
1890 to 1964, Paghjaghas.

Published for the first time.

6. Five lines carved on a slab set on the western side of a
rectangular tombstone:

Uuwn hwlqsh | Snjutth | Qupultoqtwd, |
1909-1965, | Mundwnuiu:

In this grave reposes Hovsep Garakyozian.
1909 to 1965, Paghjaghas.

Published for the first time.

7. Five lines carved on a slab set on the face of a rectan-
gular tombstone:

Uuwn hwligsh | Lmubw | Gupultoqbwd, |
1909-1986, | Mundwmnuu:

In this grave reposes Lucia Garakyozian. 1909
to 1986, Paghjaghas.

Published for the first time.
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8. Three lines in Armenian and two in Arabic carved on
the face of a rectangular tombstone:

Uwmn hwliqsh | bpblpu <nlunpbwd, | 1929-
1988:

In this grave reposes Rebecca Honsorian.
1929 to 1988.

Ol s S, [ Loga yall

Published for the first time.

Note: The Arabic inscription has the same contents.

9. Five lines carved on a slab set on the face of a rectan-
gular tombstone:

Uuwn hwlgsh | ©oqbd | Unuuunbwd, | 1909-
1989, | Mundwnuu:

In this grave reposes Joseph Aghpaghian.
1909 to 1989, Paghjaghas.

Published for the first time.

10. Five lines carved on a slab set on the face of a rectan-
gular tombstone:

Uuwn hwlgsh | Unjutu | Qupugtoqtuud, |
1930-1992, | Mundwnuiu:

In this grave reposes Movses Garakyozian.
1930 to 1992, Paghjaghas.

Published for the first time.

11. Five lines carved on a slab set on the face of a rectan-
gular tombstone standing on a single-step pedestal:

Uuwm hwligsh | GpyytGw | MEshupbwd, [ 1927-
1993, | Mundwnuu:

In this grave reposes Kyulena Pejyukian. 1927
to 1993, Paghjaghas.

Published for the first time.

12. Five lines carved on a slab set on the face of a rectan-
gular tombstone standing on a single-step pedestal:

Uuwn hwlqsh | Cogkd | MEdhipbwd, | 1927-
1994, | Mundwnuu:

In this grave reposes Joseph Pejyukian. 1927
to 1994, Paghjaghas.

Published for the first time.

13. Five lines carved on a slab set on the face of a rectan-
gular tombstone:

Uuwn hwligsh | UGhnw | Bwlnpbwd, | 1929-
1994, | Mundwnuu:

In this grave reposes Anida Hakobian. 1929 to
1994, Paghjaghas.

Published for the first time.

14. Three lines in Armenian and two in Arabic engraved
in painted characters on two metallic slabs set on the face of a
rectangular tombstone:

{wlgmgbwy | Uwph <wGunpbwd, | 1901-
1998:

The late Mari Hansorian. 1901 to 1998.
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Published for the first time.

Note: The Arabic inscription has the same contents.
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15. Four lines carved on a slab set on the face of a rectan-
gular tombstone:

Uuwn hwligsh | Mbplwp | Qupulingbwd, |
1924-1999:
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In this grave reposes Pernar Garakozian.
1924 to 1999.

Published for the first time.



Late in March 2014, the Armenian district of  from slaughter and finding refuge in the nearby city =~ However, when the state forces of Syria liberated
Kesab was occupied by Syria’s Armed Opposition  of Latakia. The Opposition forces declared that the  the district together with the local Armenian volun-
(Al-Nusra Front, Harakat Sham al-Islam, Ansar al-  property of Kesab Armenians as well as their  teers, they found the Armenian houses plundered,
Sham), the local population having a narrow escape  churches and cemeteries would be left intact.  the churches burnt away and the cemeteries defiled.

Kesab’s Armenian Apostolic church of Sourb Astvatzatzin (Holy Virgin) before the occupation of the township by the members of Syria’s Armed Opposition; the same church after the liberation of
the township as plundered and burnt away, with its crosses scraped off
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Kesab’s Armenian Evangelical church of Sourb Yerrordutiun (Holy Trinity) before the occupation of the township by the members of Syria’s Armed Opposition; the same church after the liberation
of the township as plundered and burnt away, with its crosses overthrown and inscriptions broken to pieces



Kesab’s Armenian Catholic church of St. Michael before the occupation of the township by the members of Syria’s Armed Opposition; the same church after the liberation of the township with its
sanctuary defiled, icons destroyed and bell broken to pieces; a grave in the church yard dug open
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s Armed Opposition; the cemetery after the liberation of the township with its epitaphs broken to

’

The Armenian cemetery of Kesab before the occupation of the township by the members of Syria

pieces; the Armenian Evangelical Cultural Centre of Kesab before and after its burning
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We exiend our special gratitude to our dear friends
from Kesab who proved of great instrumeniality

in the preparation of this bookiet:

Zohrab Sahakian (Ekzoluk)

Karo Manjikian (Kesab)

Harutiun Lentian (Garatash)

Petros Aramian & Paul Pojikian (Lower Paghjaghaz)
Vardan Ashekian & Karapet Sahakian (Ekizoluk)
Sevak Peturian (Tyuzaghaj).

We are also thankiul to Father Myuron Avetissian,
the priest of Sourts Astvatzatzn (Holy Virging Church
of Kesab, and the Reverend Sevak Trashian, the
former pasior of Sourb Yemorduliun (Holy Trinity)
Church of the township.
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RESEARCH ON ARMENIAN ARCHITECTURE

In 1970 Dr. of Architecture Armen Hakhnazarian
started research into the Armenian monuments of
Historical Armenia and Cilicia. Expanding his activities,
in 1982 he founded Research on Armenian Archi-
tecture (RAA) NGO in Aachen, Germany, for the pur-
pose of studying and documenting Armenian histori-
cal monuments located in every corner of the world.

In 1996 the organisation was officially established in
Los Angeles, CA, USA, and in 1998 in Yerevan, Republic
of Armenia. In 2000 the NGO was re-registered in
accordance with the legislation of the country, and in
2010 it changed into a foundation under the same
name.

Throughout the 44 years of its activities (1970 to
2016), the members of the RAA have made over 250
research trips to various parts of Historical Armenia and
centuries-old Diasporan Armenian settlements.

The RAA database contains about 450,000 digi-
tised images, including several thousand measure-

ments, graphical drawings, maps, cartographic ma-
terials, etc.

Another special database of the RAA contains
ample information regarding Armenian villages, towns,
cities, etc., this enabling researchers to pen the history
of any place in Armenia Maior and Armenia Minor.

Since 1997 the RAA has been publishing research
works, booklets, illustrated albums, maps, calendars,
etc., more than 60 in total number. Almost all of them
are available at www.raa-am.com (besides Armenian,
some publications are also available in Russian and
English).

The foundation also has a dynamic site (www.arme-
nianarchitecture.am) which provides search capabili-
ty on any Armenian historical monument throughout
the world according to various criteria.

Since 2006 the RAA has produced a number of
documentaries which are accessible on RAA Armenia
Channel on Youtube.

http://www.armenianarchitecture.am http://www.raa-am.com i = RAAAmmenia P4 raayer@sci.am @ (37410) 52 15 25
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